
Leveraging Our 
knOwLedge

AnnuAl repor t 2011

stellA-Jones.com

stellA
-Jo

n
es

A
n

n
u

A
l r

ep
o

r
t 2011



in 2011, while remaining largely unaff ected by uncertain-
ty in the overall economy, Stella-Jones generated record 
sales and net income. The Company continued to grow 
its markets, expand through acquisition, and hone the 
effi  ciency of its continental network. Stella-Jones thereby 
further enhanced its position as one of north america’s 
principal suppliers of pressure treated wood products 
and improved its capacity in its core railway tie and utility 
pole markets. 

Stella-Jones has adhered to its core competence for 
almost two decades and has developed a culture of 
adopting best practices. These have made the Company 
a leader in the wood treating industry. Leveraging its 
knowledge has made possible the continuous improve-
ments in the Company’s competitiveness.
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For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(millions of dollars, except per share data and ratios) IFRS iFrS  GAAp  GAAp  GAAp

$ $ $ $ $
operating results
Sales 640.1 561.0 411.1 384.8 269.7
operating income 1 88.0 60.7 50.3 50.0 44.1
net income  55.7 34.4 30.1 28.5 25.7
Cash fl ow from operating activities 1, 2 99.6 78.1 59.3 60.8 51.9

Financial position
working capital 273.2 189.5 170.1 156.9 103.2
total assets 617.1 517.3 370.8 407.5 244.9
total debt 3 182.7 157.8 143.2 187.3 86.5  
Shareholders’ equity 331.9 280.1 180.0 161.1 127.8

per Share Data
Basic earnings per common share 3.49 2.27 2.38 2.29 2.09
Diluted earnings per common share 3.48 2.26 2.37 2.25 2.03
Cash fl ow from operating activities 1, 2 6.25 5.15 4.69 4.87 4.22
Book value 20.80 17.59 14.19 12.82 10.35
Dividend per share 0.50 0.38 0.36 0.34 0.24

Average number of shares outstanding (000’s) 15,946 15,163 12,638 12,483 12,324
Shares outstanding at year end (000’s) 15,955 15,923 12,684 12,565 12,341
Average number of diluted shares outstanding (000’s) 16,007 15,204 12,704 12,695 12,690

Financial ratios
operating margin 13.7% 10.8% 12.2% 13.0% 16.3%
return on average equity 18.2% 15.0% 17.6% 19.8% 22.0%
total debt 3 to total capitalization 0.35:1 0.36:1 0.44:1 0.54:1 0.40:1
total debt 3 to trailing 12-month eBitDA 1 1.89 2.22 2.43 3.21 1.75
working capital 5.77 3.38 3.01 2.31 2.56

5-Year Review

1 operating income, cash fl ow from operating activities and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“eBitDA”) are fi nancial measures not prescribed by international Financial 
 reporting Standards (“iFrS”) and Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAp”) and are not likely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. management 
 considers them to be useful information to assist knowledgeable investors in evaluating the cash generating capabilities of the Company. eBitDA is derived from the Company’s consolidated fi nancial 
 statements without adjustment for unusual or non-recurring items.
2  Before changes in non-cash working capital components and interest and income tax paid.
3 including short-term bank indebtedness.
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2011 HigHligHts
ContinuouS Growth
Despite a hesitant north American economy, the business model of Stella-Jones 
demonstrated its inherent resilience and a continuous ability to enhance shareholder 
value. For the eleventh consecutive year, the Company generated record net income 
as a function of both organic growth and acquisition, selling more railway ties and 
utility poles than ever before in its history.

ACquiSition oF thompSon inDuStrieS
Stella-Jones continued its methodical expansion with the acquisition of Arkansas-
based thompson industries, a producer of railway ties and timbers which had  
revenues of approximately uS$49 million in its last fiscal year. this acquisition has 
broadened Stella-Jones’ continental network and represents another strategic  
advance toward becoming the supplier of choice to the north American railway tie 
market. this transaction should be immediately accretive to 2012 earnings.

SoliD FinAnCiAl poSition
Stella-Jones sustained a strong cash flow, managed debt to optimize financial flexi-
bility, and further leveraged network synergies to improve the cost efficiency of  
operations. reflecting its financial performance, the Company increased its semi- 
annual dividend on two occasions in 2011.

stella-Jones registered another impressive performance in 
2011. Demand for its products remained strong in the trans-
portation, electrical transmission and telecommunications 
industries of North America. the growth and efficiency of the 
Company’s network further entrenched its position as a prin-
cipal source of railway ties and utility poles for many of the 
continent’s largest railway operators and utility companies.

2 Stella-Jones
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For Stella-Jones, most of 2011 was a period of integration in the 
u.S. following our acquisition of tangent, which was of a scale to 
make a notable change in our Company’s standing in the north 
American railroad industry. this position was further enhanced on 
December 7, 2011 by the acquisition of thompson industries, inc. 
based in russellville, Arkansas, bringing another fi ne modern tie 
treating plant to our group and very usefully extending our geo-
graphic and customer base. thompson had sales of uS$49 million 
in its fi nancial year to September 30, 2011, and the purchase price 
was uS$34.9 million, fi nanced through our existing credit lines and 
an unsecured vendor note of uS$6.5 million. 

whilst these activities in 2010 and 2011 were concentrated on 
our u.S. railway tie business, our important wood pole business in 
Canada and northern and western u.S. also produced strong 
organic growth, boosted by some major electricity transmission 
projects. we were uniquely able to service many of these projects 
through our extensive wood supply arrangements, the number of 
our treatment plants, the scope of our treating processes and our 
coverage across the continent. 

richard Belanger, who has been a non-executive director and 
member of the Audit Committee of Stella-Jones for 15 years, will 
not be seeking re-election to our Board. i wish, on behalf of the 
Board, to thank richard for the very signifi cant contribution 
he has made to Stella-Jones in a period of major growth. At our 
Shareholders’ meeting on may 3, 2012, we will be proposing the 
election of Simon pelletier to the Board. our Directors believe that 
Simon would bring wide experience of international business to 
Stella-Jones and assist our further expansion in future years. 

Shareholders will be aware that Stella Jones international sold 
2 million of its total of 8.2 million shares in Stella-Jones inc. by way 
of a secondary off ering on February 6, 2012. this does not in any 
way indicate a reduction of commitment from SJ international 
in the future of Stella-Jones. rather, it refl ects a wish by SJ inter-
national to diversify its asset portfolio and also to respond to the 
oft-repeated comments from investors and analysts to increase 
liquidity in Stella-Jones shares. 

in 2011, the Board declared dividends of $0.24 and $0.26 in march 
and August, respectively, for a total of $0.50, compared to $0.38 
the previous year. in march 2012, the Board announced that with 
immediate eff ect, it would consider the declaration of dividends 
on a quarterly rather than a semi-annual basis. the outlook for the 
Company in the current year continues to appear positive given our 
strong forward order books.

i wish to thank our customers and shareholders for their support 
and to congratulate all our employees on another very successful 
year.

tom A. Bruce Jones, CBe
Chairman

Chairman’s Report
Against the backdrop of another diffi  cult year for fi nancial and 
industrial markets in many developed countries, stella-Jones inc. 
once more produced an exceptional result. On sales of $640.1 
million, net income was $55.7 million compared with $561.0 mil-
lion and $34.4 million respectively in 2010, although the fi gures 
for that year included only nine months of contribution from 
tangent Rail Corporation acquired in April 2010. 
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while the overall economy remained hesitant and growth sluggish, 
the performance of Stella-Jones testifi es to the advantages we 
enjoy by way of our product and service off erings. the railway ties 
and utility poles manufactured in our facilities are essential compo-
nents of basic industrial infrastructure. 

moreover, our solid fi nancial results derive from the competitive 
edge we enjoy by virtue of the scale and continental span of our 
production network. while off ering a range of products that very 
few competitors can match, our facilities allow us to adapt swiftly 
to market contingencies. these entrenched strengths are progres-
sively enabling us to win new clients and expand supply to existing 
clients.

As our sales growth demonstrated in 2011, Stella-Jones is 
increasingly a producer of choice for the railroads, utilities and 
telecommunications companies that require a steady and secure 
supply of railway ties and utility poles. total sales in 2011 grew to 
$640.1 million, up 14.1% from the previous year. net income rose to 
$55.7 million, an increase of 61.8%.

the strength of the Canadian dollar, our reporting currency, 
decreased the value of our u.S.-dollar denominated sales by 
approximately $21.3 million when compared with the previous 
year. Accordingly, our results represent an increase in organic sales 
growth of approximately 11.0%. 

in both our core markets in 2011, Stella-Jones sold more railway ties 
and utility poles than ever before in our history. this success under-
scores not only the Company’s appeal and growth, but our position 
as a prime source of these vital products for principal users in the 
north American marketplace. 

thompSon ACquiSition
this past year saw our Company continue its methodical and 
strategic acquisition program. with our purchase of thompson 
industries, a highly regarded Arkansas-based wood treater, we 
enlarged our geographic footprint, remained true to our core 
business and added additional fl exibility to our network.

thompson produced mainly railway ties and timbers, and had 
revenues of approximately uS$49 million in its last fi scal year. it 
was a well–established company with a reputation for quality and 
innovation. the merger of thompson’s operations into our network 
has enhanced Stella-Jones’ product and service off erings to the 
railroad industry. 

rAilwAY tieS
Strong sales of railway ties in 2011 responded to investments 
made by north American railways in their physical infrastructures. 
As freight volumes recovered, many operators built either new 
track or upgraded existing lines. our sales performance also 
resulted from two other important factors: our steadily expanding 
continental reach, as well as our extensive scope of products and 
services. these factors have made Stella-Jones an increasingly 
attractive supplier to the largest users of railway ties, namely the 
Class 1 and Short line railway operators. 

the railway tie product category remained our largest, accounting 
for 52.9% of total 2011 revenues. Sales reached $338.8 million, a 
19.6% increase over the previous year’s result. 

President’s Message

the record revenues and ongoing expansion of stella-Jones in 2011 resulted from our strict 
adherence to a proven business model. We concentrated on the Company’s core expertise, extended 
and refi ned the effi  ciency of our continental network and completed another acquisition in our 
traditional marketplace. For the eleventh consecutive year, this strategy yielded record net income – 
and further enhanced stella-Jones’ central role in the North American wood treating industry.
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utilitY poleS
throughout the year in the utility pole market, we saw robust 
demand for transmission poles as electrical utility operators 
invested in infrastructure enhancement projects. our order book 
for distribution poles was also kept steadily active as regular 
maintenance projects proceeded. total utility pole sales reached 
$194.8 million, up 16.9% from the previous year. this category 
remained our second largest selling product, accounting for 30.5% 
of the Company’s 2011 sales.

inDuStriAl proDuCtS AnD reSiDentiAl lumBer
in the industrial products category, demand for our marine and 
industrial treated wood remained stable while we continued to 
generate signifi cant supplementary income with our coal tar distil-
lation and used railway tie pickup and disposal operations – ser-
vices we began off ering less than two years ago. Sales of $78.9 mil-
lion represented a 3.1% decrease from the previous year, a decline 
mainly due to the sale of certain assets of our terre haute, indiana 
facility late in 2010. industrial products represented 12.3% of total 
sales during the year.

in the residential lumber category, our 2011 sales amounted to 
$27.7 million, a decrease of 7.1% from a year earlier. this refl ects 
lower demand in Canada, our sole market for residential lumber, 
primarily due to less favourable weather in the fi rst half of 2011 
compared with last year. this product category accounted for 4.3% 
of our sales during the year.

outlooK
the Company has strong prospects for continued growth. 
Stella-Jones has limited exposure to european uncertainty and 
is, to a certain degree, unaff ected by the global macro-economic 

environment. it is the health of the north American market that 
infl uences our performance, and a number of key indicators now 
point to at least a modest resurgence in the u.S. economy. while 
the fundamentals in our core businesses remain relatively immune 
to volatility, any sustained American recovery would likely stimu-
late additional investment by the purchasers of our railway ties and 
utility poles. 

internally, in the year ahead, we will benefi t from new network 
synergies as we integrate thompson’s operations. Furthermore, 
with a healthy cash fl ow and a strong fi nancial position, we will 
continue to study all opportunities for further acquisitions. 

As the Company marks another strong year, the credit belongs in 
greatest part to the people of Stella-Jones. i thank all of our em-
ployees for contributing to our culture of continuous improvement. 
their dedication to excellence has been the key to our success.

Brian mcmanus
president and Chief executive offi  cer

While the fundamentals in our core businesses remain 
relatively immune to volatility, any sustained American 
recovery would likely stimulate additional investment 
by the purchasers of our railway ties and utility poles. 
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$338.8 M
2011 RailWaY Tie SaleS

52.9 %
2011 TOTal SaleS

the wood crosstie, an essential 
component of the railroad 
industry, is the largest product 
category of Stella-Jones.

Stella-Jones6
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Railway ties
SuStAineD DemAnD ChArACteriZeS thiS mArKet 
the north American economy depends to a great extent on the railroad transportation 
system, as freight and passengers continuously move on nearly two hundred thousand 
miles of continental track. pressure treated wood crossties form an essential component 
of this infrastructure, and must be replaced on a regular basis during maintenance.

StellA-JoneS iS A prinCipAl Supplier 
Some twenty million ties are purchased annually by the north American railroad 
industry. Stella-Jones’ position in this market has strengthened progressively for the 
past decade and today is one of the industry’s two largest suppliers. 

A SeCuritY oF SupplY SeConD to none
Stella-Jones’ production capacity is distributed across the north American continent in 
treating facilities located in ten u.S. states and fi ve Canadian provinces. A large network 
of manufacturing facilities minimizes the chance of any interruption of production, and 
a multi-plant network also allows the Company to gear up rapidly to supply large orders. 
Since assured continuity of supply can be critical for railway operators, Stella-Jones is 
increasingly a preferred producer for the industry.

A rAnGe oF CompetitiVe ADVAntAGeS
most of the largest railways on the continent depend upon Stella-Jones by virtue of our 
breadth of product, economies of scale and managerial expertise. we provide ties in the full 
spectrum of softwoods and hardwoods. our effi  ciencies have improved as our reach has 
widened, which allows us to compete most eff ectively. perhaps most critically, for almost 
two decades, we have been solely dedicated to the manufacture of pressure treated wood 
products; this specialization has enabled Stella-Jones to employ best practices and achieve 
a distinct edge in manufacturing effi  ciency. 

Wood is the historic, preferred and logical choice of material for rail-
way crossties. it is a most cost eff ective, durable and fl exible pro-
duct. Expertly pressure treated by stella-Jones, wood ties are able to 
withstand a wide variety of climates and harsh environments. Up-
wards of eighty percent of ties in North America are made of wood.

rAilwAY tie SAleS (5-YeAr)
(in millions of $)
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Stella-Jones is a principal 
producer of the wood utility 
poles that support the lines 
carrying electrical energy and 
telecommunications.

8 Stella-Jones

$194.8 M
2011 UTiliTY POle SaleS

30.5 %
2011 TOTal SaleS
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Utility Poles
lonGStAnDinG Supplier to hiGh Volume uSerS
Years of specialization and state-of-the-art treating expertise has made Stella-Jones one 
of the largest producers of poles in north America, and the only such manufacturer that 
operates from coast to coast in Canada. in 2011, the Company sold pressure treated poles 
to many of the largest utilities on the continent.

SteADY AnnuAl DemAnD
wood utility poles play a vital role in the continent’s basic industrial infrastructure. 
every year, replacement needs, line upgrades and new lines provide a consistent 
business flow. this stream of business, although not immune to economic volatility, is 
generally protected by the essential nature of the lines which the poles support. 

Full SpeCtrum oF proDuCtS
the poles marketed by Stella-Jones are called upon to perform a variety of tasks in 
diverse geographic areas. Accordingly, they must be manufactured from diff erent species 
to aff ord varying qualities of hardness, durability and insect resistance. with proprietary 
and privileged access to the highest quality timber in all required species, Stella-Jones has 
earned a reputation for its ability to produce poles to meet the full gamut of specifi cations 
in type, size and preservative. 

ASSureD ContinuitY oF SupplY
with its network of treating plants across the continent, Stella-Jones can apply exceptional 
fl exibility to meet orders and deliver poles rapidly. Clients have come to rely on the Company 
not only for its custom manufacturing, but for volume requirements on both a consistent 
basis and in the event of emergencies. the Company’s track record for meeting demand 
during peak periods – in the wake of natural disasters, for instance – has earned Stella-Jones 
recognition as a highly dependable single source supplier. 

the leading role of stella-Jones in the utility pole marketplace is 
owed to its broad sourcing rights for raw material, the purchasing 
power aff orded by its size, the advantages off ered by its multi-plant 
network, and the Company’s culture that combines specialization 
with leading edge technology.

utilitY pole SAleS (5-YeAr)
(in millions of $)
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Industrial 
Products
LUMBER FOR OUTDOOR PROJECTS
Where wood is used as an outdoor construction material, the 
expertise of Stella-Jones is often called upon to meet di�  cult 
environmental conditions with particular species and specialized 
pressure treatment. Products in the industrial products category 
include foundation and marine pilings, bridge timbers and 
highway guardrail posts. 

SUPPLEMENTARY PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
The Company’s coal tar distillation operation ensures its supply 
of creosote, a key component of the railway tie treating process, 
and allows for the marketing of derivative products such as roof 
pitch and road tar. On behalf of its railway customers, Stella-Jones 
provides value-added crosstie pre-plating, recycling and disposal 
services – enhancing the Company’s role as a full-service supplier.

10 Stella-Jones

$78.9 M

12.3 %
2011 TOTAL SALES

2011 INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS SALES

Treated wood for 
construction and marine 
sectors; complementary 
services for railways.
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Residential 
lumber
SerVinG the retAil mArKetplACe 
Stella-Jones’ core competence has led it to generate signifi -
cant ancillary revenue in the home renovation sector, where the 
Company’s expertise is applied to the pressure treatment of wood 
for outdoor applications such as decks, fences and patios.

SpeCiFiC to CAnADA 
this product category is sold exclusively in Canada, where 
Stella-Jones has allied with a major lumber wholesaler. the 
demand from homeowners for treated wood manufactured 
to meet the highest standards of quality, and to withstand the 
harshest environmental conditions, has provided the Company 
with a profi table niche revenue stream.

$27.7 M

4.3 %
2011 TOTal SaleS

2011 ReSidenTial lUMBeR SaleS

Annual report 2011 11

home renovation creates a 
niche revenue stream for the 
Company’s  treated wood.
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the stella-Jones Network

With our strategically located facilities, we have the treating capacity, sources of supply and purchasing  
power to respond to increased demands in all our product categories.

35.6 %

64.4 %

SaleS in canada

S a l e S  i n  U . S . a .

treating Facilities

tie pickup and  
Disposal Facilities

pole peeling Facilities

rail Services operations

Coal tar Distillery
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) and the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements were approved by 

the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on March 15, 2012. The MD&A provides a review of the significant developments and results of 

operations of the Company during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 compared with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010. The MD&A 

should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and 

the notes thereto. 

The MD&A contains statements that are forward-looking in nature. Such statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may 

cause the actual results of the Company to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such items 

include, among others: general economic and business conditions, product selling prices, raw material and operating costs, changes in foreign 

currency rates and other factors referenced herein and in the Company’s continuous disclosure filings. 

The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and 

results are reported in Canadian dollars. All amounts in this MD&A are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The Company’s financial 

statements were previously prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“CA GAAP”).

Additional information, including the Company’s annual information form, quarterly and annual reports, and supplementary information is available 

on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Press releases and other information are also available in the Investor/Media Centre section of the Company’s Web site 

at www.stella-jones.com.  

OUR BUSINESS

Stella-Jones Inc. (TSX: SJ) is a North American producer and marketer of industrial treated wood products, specializing in the production of railway 

ties and timbers as well as wood poles supplied to electrical utilities and telecommunication companies. The Company manufactures the wood 

preservative creosote and other coal tar based products and provides the railroad industry with used tie pickup and disposal services. Switching, 

locomotive and railcar maintenance services are also offered, as is tie-derived boiler fuel. The Company also provides treated residential lumber 

products and customized services to lumber retailers and wholesalers for outdoor applications. Other treated wood products include marine and 

foundation pilings, construction timbers, highway guardrail posts and treated wood for bridges.

The Company operates nineteen wood treating plants, a coal tar distillery, three facilities providing railway tie pickup and disposal services, 

two distribution centres, two pole peeling facilities and has a 50% interest in a third pole peeling operation. These twenty-eight facilities are located 

in six Canadian provinces and fifteen American states. The Company’s workforce currently numbers approximately 970 employees.

Stella-Jones enjoys a number of key attributes which should further enhance the Company’s strategic positioning and competitive advantage in 

the wood treating industry. Among these are the ability to service clients from multiple plants, a solid financial position that allows the Company 

to stockpile and air-season green wood for major long-term contracts, a long-standing stable source of wood supply, and a registration to produce 

and sell the wood preservative, creosote. 

OUR MISSION

Stella-Jones’ objective is to be the performance leader in the wood preserving industry and a model corporate citizen, exercising environmental 

responsibility and integrity.

Stella-Jones will achieve these goals by focusing on customer satisfaction, core products, key markets, innovative work practices and the optimal use 

of its resources.

Stella-Jones is committed to providing a safe, respectful and productive environment for its employees, where problem solving, initiative and high 

standards of performance are rewarded.
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ManageMent’s Discussion & analysis

non-iFRs Financial MeasuRes
Operating income before depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets (also referred to as earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization [“EBITDA”]), operating income, and cash flow from operations are financial measures not prescribed 
by IFRS and are not likely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. Management considers these measures to be useful 
information to assist knowledgeable investors in evaluating the cash generating capabilities of the Company.

Reconciliation of eBitDa 
and operating income to net income  three-month periods ended Fiscal years ended

(thousands of dollars) Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010

Net income for the period 13,367 10,650 55,709 34,441
Plus:    
 Provision for income taxes 5,120 5,730 24,220 15,684
 Financial expenses 1,912 2,814 8,039 10,565

Operating income 20,399 19,194 87,968 60,690
Depreciation and amortization 2,325 2,735 8,715 10,355

EBITDA 22,724 21,929 96,683 71,045

MaJoR acHieVeMents oF 2011
The year ended December 31, 2011 marked the Company’s eleventh consecutive year of uninterrupted growth in net income. Stella-Jones also 
continued to execute its operating strategy based on continental expansion. 

On December 7, 2011, Stella-Jones completed the acquisition of Thompson Industries, Inc. (“Thompson”), a provider of treated wood products 
to the railroad industry. Founded in 1981, Thompson produced treated wood products, mainly railway ties and timbers, at a facility located 
in Russellville, Arkansas. Thompson’s sales for its fiscal year ended September 30, 2011 were approximately US$49.0 million. The purchase price 
totalled approximately $35.2 million (US$34.9 million). Stella-Jones financed the acquisition through existing credit facilities and an unsecured 
vendor note of $6.6 million (US$6.5 million).  

Sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 reached $640.1 million, up $79.1 million, or 14.1%, from last year’s sales, primarily as a result of robust 
demand for the Company’s core railway tie and utility pole product categories. Organically, sales increased approximately 11.0%, while the conversion 
effect from fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar, Stella-Jones’ reporting currency, versus the U.S. dollar, decreased the value of U.S. dollar 
denominated sales by about $21.3 million when compared with the previous year. In addition, the operating facilities acquired from Tangent Rail 
Corporation (“Tangent”) on April 1, 2010 added sales of approximately $37.7 million in the first quarter of 2011, while Thompson contributed sales 
of $1.7 million in the last three weeks of the fourth quarter of 2011. 

Reflecting higher business activity and greater efficiencies throughout its plant network, Stella-Jones’ annual operating income reached $88.0 million, 
or 13.7% of sales, in 2011. This represents a 44.9% increase over $60.7 million, or 10.8% of sales, in the prior year. As a result, net income for the year 
grew 61.8% to $55.7 million, or $3.48 per share, fully diluted, compared with $34.4 million, or $2.26 per share, fully diluted, a year ago. 

Stella-Jones’ solid performance produced strong cash flows in 2011. Cash flow from operating activities, before changes in non-cash working capital 
components and interest and income tax paid, amounted to $99.6 million, up 27.6% from $78.1 million in 2010. This performance allowed the 
Company to maintain a sound financial position. Although the Thompson acquisition was mostly financed through existing credit facilities and 
completed shortly before year end, Stella-Jones’  total debt to total capitalization ratio improved to 0.35:1 as at December 31, 2011, while the ratio of 
total debt to trailing 12-month EBITDA also improved to 1.89:1 when compared to December 31, 2010. 
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KEy PERFORMaNcE INDIcatORS

For the years ended December 31  2011 (IFRS) 2010 (IFRS) 2009 (CA GAAP)

Operating margin   13.7% 10.8% 12.2%

Return on average equity   18.2% 15.0% 17.6%

Working capital ratio   5.77 3.38 3.01

Total debt** to total capitalization   0.35:1 0.36:1 0.44:1

Total debt** to trailing 12-month EBITDA   1.89 2.22 2.43

Dividend per share   0.50 0.38 0.36

SElEctED aNNUal FINaNcIal INFORMatION (years ended December 31)

Income  2011 (IFRS) 2010 (IFRS) 2009 (CA GAAP)

(thousands of dollars, except per share data)  $ $ $

Sales  640,148 561,046 411,119

Operating income   87,968 60,690 50,268

Net income 55,709 34,441 30,069

Basic earnings per common share 3.49 2.27 2.38

Diluted earnings per common share 3.48 2.26 2.37

Financial Position   2011 (IFRS) 2010 (IFRS) 2009 (CA GAAP) 

(thousands of dollars) $ $ $

Current assets 330,519 269,042 254,578

Total assets 617,056 520,958 370,795

Long-term debt* 180,094 125,828 87,080

Total debt** 182,679 157,751 143,199

Shareholders’ equity 331,912 280,102 179,978

* Including current portion

**  Including short-term bank indebtedness 

FOREIgN EXcHaNgE

The table below shows exchange rates applicable to the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Average rates are used to translate sales and 

expenses for the periods mentioned, while closing rates translate assets and liabilities of foreign operations and monetary assets and liabilities of the 

Canadian operations.

  2011 2010

cdn$/US$  average closing Average Closing

First Quarter 0.9892 0.9696 1.0576 1.0158

Second Quarter 0.9615 0.9645 1.0250 1.0646

third Quarter 0.9665 1.0482 1.0531 1.0290

Fourth Quarter 1.0217 1.0170 1.0253 0.9946

Fiscal year 0.9847 1.0170 1.0403 0.9946
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inDustRy oVeRVieW
Railway ties
As reported by the Railway Tie Association, railway tie purchases for 2011 rose approximately 10% to reach 21.7 million ties, the highest annual total 
of the last 20 years. This high demand further reduced the inventory-to-sales ratio to 0.79:1 as at December 31, 2011, from a revised 0.82:1 twelve 
months earlier. 

In the last decade, volatile fuel prices and persistent highway congestion have increasingly caused shippers to favour rail, a more fuel efficient 
transportation mode, over trucks. The resulting increase in rail transportation volume, combined with an aging infrastructure, yielded greater 
demand for products and services related to the modernization and extension of the North American rail network, including railway ties.

Reflecting further improvement in the North American economy, the number of carloads hauled on North American railroads increased by 
2.5% in 2011, while the volume of intermodal trailers and containers was up 5.3% from 2010 levels, according to data released by the Association 
of American Railroads.

oPeRating Results
SAleS
Sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 totalled $640.1 million, an increase of $79.1 million, or 14.1%, over last year’s sales of $561.0 million. 
The operating facilities acquired from Tangent on April 1, 2010, contributed additional sales of approximately $37.7 million in the first quarter of 
2011, while the facility acquired from Thompson on December 7, 2011, contributed sales of $1.7 million. The conversion effect from fluctuations 
in the value of the Canadian dollar, Stella-Jones’ reporting currency, versus the U.S. dollar, decreased the value of U.S. dollar denominated sales 
by about $21.3 million when compared with last year. excluding these factors, sales increased approximately 11.0%, as demand remained robust 
for the Company’s core railway tie and utility pole product categories. Increased demand reflects requirements for regular maintenance as well 
as special projects.   

SAleS by pRoDUCT CATegoRy
Railway ties
Railway tie sales for 2011 amounted to $338.8 million, up $55.6 million over sales of $283.2 million in 2010. This 19.6% increase reflects solid market 
demand, as well as additional tie sales of approximately $29.5 million from the Tangent operations in the first quarter of 2011 and $1.5 million 
from the Thompson facility in the fourth quarter of 2011. Adjusting for a negative foreign exchange effect of $14.9 million due to a lower average 
conversion rate on U.S. dollar denominated tie sales, year-over-year comparable railway tie sales increased approximately 14.0%. Railway tie sales 
accounted for 52.9% of the Company’s total sales in 2011.
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Utility poles

Utility pole sales amounted to $194.8 million in 2011, up 16.9% over sales of $166.7 million in 2010. The increase is mostly attributable to robust 

demand for transmission poles related to orders for special projects. Meanwhile, distribution pole sales remained relatively steady due mainly to 

regular maintenance demand. A lower year-over-year average conversion rate reduced the value of U.S. dollar denominated pole sales by $3.6 million 

in 2011. Utility pole sales accounted for 30.5% of the Company’s total sales in 2011.

Industrial products

Industrial product sales decreased 3.1% in 2011, reaching $78.9 million, compared with $81.4 million in 2010. Excluding additional contributions  

in 2011 of $8.2 million and $0.2 million from the Tangent and Thompson operations, respectively, and net of a negative conversion effect of  

$2.8 million on U.S. dollar denominated sales, industrial product sales declined approximately $8.1 million. This decline is mainly attributable to the 

withdrawal from certain non-core market areas following the sale of certain assets of the Terre Haute, Indiana facility in the fourth quarter of 2010. 

Demand remained solid for the balance of the Company’s principal products and services in this category for both Canada and the United States. 

Industrial products represented 12.3% of sales in 2011. 

Residential lumber

Sales in the residential lumber category totalled $27.7 million in 2011, down 7.1% from $29.8 million in 2010. The decrease essentially reflects lower 

demand in Canada due to less favourable weather compared with the prior year in the first half of 2011. The Company does not sell residential lumber 

in the U.S. market. Residential lumber accounted for 4.3% of Stella-Jones’ sales in 2011.

SALES By DESTINATION 

Sales in the United States amounted to $412.2 million, or 64.4% of sales, in 2011, representing an increase of $66.5 million, or 19.2%, over 2010. The 

increase mainly reflects higher sales of railway ties and utility poles, as well as the additional contribution of $37.7 million and $1.7 million from 

the Tangent and Thompson operations, respectively, partially offset by a lower conversion rate on U.S. dollar denominated sales. Sales of products 

exported to the United Stated from the Canadian based facilities totalled $13.0 million in 2011, compared with $10.7 million in 2010, as the Company 

continues to optimize its asset base through plant specialization.

Sales in Canada in 2011 increased $12.6 million, or 5.9%, to $228.0 million, representing 35.6% of Stella-Jones’ total sales. The increase in  

year-over-year sales is mainly attributable to higher sales of railway ties and utility poles. 

COST OF SALES 

Cost of sales, including depreciation of property, plant and equipment, as well as amortization of intangible assets, was $515.3 million, or 80.5% 

of sales, in 2011. This compares with $467.8 million, or 83.4% of sales, in 2010. The increase in absolute dollars essentially reflects higher business 

activity, partially offset by a lower average rate applied to convert U.S. dollar denominated costs. The decrease as a percentage of sales mainly 

stems from a different product mix, more heavily weighted towards utility poles than a year ago, as well as from greater efficiencies throughout the 

Company’s plant network. 

Depreciation and amortization charges totalled $8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, down from $10.4 million in the year ended 

December 31, 2010. In 2011, depreciation and amortization of cutting rights, standing timber and roads were included in inventory or cost of sales 

as part of wood costs, resulting in this reduction.

As a result, gross profit reached $124.9 million or 19.5% of sales in 2011, up from $93.3 million or 16.6% of sales in 2010. 

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIvE

Selling and administrative expenses for 2011 were $35.8 million, compared with expenses of $32.5 million in 2010. This $3.3 million increase is mainly 

attributable to the Company’s profit sharing program and to expenses from the Tangent operations for the full year, as opposed to nine months in 

2010. As a percentage of sales, selling and administrative expenses were 5.6% of sales in 2011, compared to 5.8% in the prior year.
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Of note, this year’s selling and administrative expenses included an asset impairment charge of $2.2 million related to the non-cash reversal of a 
customer relationship intangible asset, as well as acquisition costs of $423,000 directly related to the purchase of Thompson. Meanwhile, last year’s 
selling and administrative expenses included expenses of approximately $5.3 million in connection with severance expenses, a provision for an 
unfavourable legal judgement, as well as acquisition costs directly related to the purchase of Tangent. The Company also recorded asset impairment 
charges of $3.0 million for the Spencer, West Virginia facility and the former U.S. corporate office in Ripley, West Virginia. Conversely, net revenues of 
$2.6 million related to the sale of certain assets of the Terre Haute, Indiana facility were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2010.

OTHER lOSSES, NET
Stella-Jones’ other net losses of $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 included a foreign exchange loss of $554,000 and a loss on 
disposal of property, plant and equipment of $505,000. In 2010, other net losses of $25,000 included a foreign exchange loss of $44,000 partially 
offset by a non-cash gain on derivative financial instruments of $19,000.

The Company’s exposure to foreign exchange gains or losses from currency fluctuations is related to its sales and purchases in U.S. dollars by its 
Canadian based operations and to U.S. dollar denominated long-term debt held by its Canadian companies. Stella-Jones U.S. Holding Corporation 
(“SJ Holding”), the Company’s wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, is a foreign operation that has a different functional currency from that of the Company 
and foreign exchange gains and losses on translating its financial statements are deferred in shareholders’ equity. The Company monitors its 
transactions in U.S. dollars generated by Canadian based operations. Its basic hedging activity for economic purposes consists of entering into 
foreign exchange forward contracts for the sale of U.S. dollars and purchasing certain goods and services in U.S. dollars. The Company will also 
consider foreign exchange forward contracts for the purchase of U.S. dollars for significant purchases of goods and services that are not covered 
by natural hedges. 

FINANCIAl ExPENSES
Financial expenses for 2011 amounted to $8.0 million, down from $10.6 million in 2010. This decrease in financial expenses is due to lower interest 
rates resulting from the July 28, 2011 amendment and restatement of existing credit agreements (see “Statement of Financial Position” below), 
the early repayment of certain higher interest bearing long-term obligations on April 1, 2011 (US$15.0 million) and in the fourth quarter of 2010 
($11.5 million and US$4.1 million), and to lower Canadian dollar interest charges on the conversion of U.S. dollar denominated debt. 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAxES AND INCOME TAx ExPENSE
Stella-Jones generated income before income taxes of $79.9 million, or 12.5% of sales, in 2011. This represents an increase of $29.8 million, or 59.5%, 
over income before income taxes of $50.1 million, or 8.9% of sales, in 2010. 

Excluding the aforementioned items (see “Selling and Administrative” above), income before income taxes was $82.6 million, or 12.9% of sales,  
in 2011 and approximately $55.8 million, or 9.9% of sales, in 2010.

Stella-Jones’ provision for income taxes totalled $24.2 million in 2011, representing an effective tax rate of 30.3%. In 2010, the income tax  
expense stood at $15.7 million, equivalent to an effective tax rate of 31.3%. The lower effective tax rate for 2011 is attributable to a decrease in the 
statutory tax rates. 

NET INCOME
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2011 reached $55.7 million, or $3.48 per share, fully diluted, compared with $34.4 million, or  
$2.26 per share, fully diluted, in 2010. This represents a year-over-year increase in net income of $21.3 million, or 61.8%. 
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SAleS by pRoduct (% of revenues)•  Railway ties:  52.9%  (2010 – 50.5%)

•  utility poles:  30.5%  (2010 – 29.7%)

•  Industrial products:  12.3%  (2010 – 14.5%)

•  Residential lumber:  4.3%  (2010 – 5.3%)

SAleS by geogRAphIc RegIon (% of revenues)•  united States:  64.4%  (2010 – 61.6%)

•  canada:  35.6%  (2010 – 38.4%)

Business acQuisition
on december 7, 2011, the company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of thompson, a provider of treated wood products to the 
railroad industry. thompson produced treated wood products, mainly railway ties and timbers, at a facility located in Russellville, Arkansas. total 
cash outlay associated with the acquisition was approximately $29.0 million (uS$28.7 million), excluding acquisition costs of approximately 
$0.4 million (uS$0.4 million). 

the following fair value determination of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed is preliminary and is based on Management’s best estimates 
and information known at the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements. this fair value  is expected to be completed within 12 months 
of the acquisition date and consequently, changes could occur mainly with respect to intangible assets, goodwill and deferred income taxes. 
Immediately following the acquisition, thompson was merged with Stella-Jones corporation (“SJ corp”) and the surviving corporation was SJ corp. 
the results of operations of the acquiree have been included in the company’s consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date.

2011 2010

35.6%
38.4%

64.4% 61.6%

2011 2010

4.3% 5.3%
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The following is a summary of the net assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred at fair value as at the acquisition date. 
The original transaction was made in U.S. dollars and converted into Canadian dollars as at the acquisition date.
    
    
assets acquired  $

Non-cash working capital 11,018
Property, plant and equipment 9,452
Cash surrender value of life insurance 150
Customer relationships 12,225
Customer backlog 273
Non-deductible goodwill 15,975

49,093
liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,835
Long-term debt 3,460
Deferred income tax liabilities 7,587

total net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 35,211

consideration transferred
Cash 29,015
Unsecured note payable to vendor 5,322
Consideration  payable 874

consideration transferred for shares 35,211

The Company’s valuation of intangible assets has identified customer relationships and customer backlog. The assigned useful lives for customer 
relationships are 25 years and 10 months for customer backlog. Goodwill is not amortized nor deductible for tax purposes, and represents the future 
economic value associated with the increased railroad network access, acquired workforce and synergies with the Company’s operations. Note 9 
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 provides a roll-forward of the net book value 
balances of intangible assets and goodwill.

The Company financed the acquisition through existing credit facilities and an unsecured vendor note of $6.6 million (US$6.5 million), bearing 
interest at 2.67% and repayable in equal instalments over a 10-year period. The vendor note was fair-valued at $5.3 million (US$5.3 million) using an 
interest rate of 7.0%.

In the period from December 7 to December 31, 2011, the acquiree’s sales and loss before income taxes amounted to $1.7 million and 
$102,000, respectively. On a pro forma basis, Management’s estimate of sales and income before income taxes of the combined operations of the 
Company and Thompson for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2011 would have been approximately $687.5 million and $84.3 million 
respectively, had the Thompson acquisition occurred as of January  1, 2011. To arrive at the pro forma estimates, Management considered the 
financing structure resulting from the acquisition as well as other adjustments related to the acquisition.

QuaRteRly Results
The Company’s sales follow a seasonal pattern, with railway tie, utility pole and industrial lumber shipments strongest in the second and third 
quarters to provide industrial end users with product for their summer maintenance projects. Residential lumber sales also follow a similar seasonal 
pattern. In the fall and winter seasons, there tends to be less activity; thus the first and fourth quarters are typically characterized by relatively 
lower sales levels. 
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In 2011, the Company achieved strong year-over-year revenue and net income growth in all quarters. While the Tangent operations provided an 

additional contribution in the first quarter of 2011, robust demand for the Company’s core products yielded solid organic revenue growth in the last 

three quarters. This greater business activity, combined with increased efficiencies throughout the Company’s plant network and a more favourable 

product mix, more heavily weighted towards utility poles in the peak summer season, further enhanced operating income.

The table below sets forth selected financial information for the Company’s last eight quarters ending with the most recently completed financial year:

2011 

For the quarters ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 total

(thousands of dollars, except per share data) $ $ $ $ $

Sales 130,485 180,331 181,812 147,520 640,148

Operating income before depreciation of property, 

 plant and equipment and amortization

  of intangible assets 1 16,970 29,966 27,023 22,724 96,683

Operating income 1 14,418 27,582 25,569 20,399 87,968

Net income for the period 8,500 17,271 16,569 13,369 55,709

Earnings per common share

 Basic 0.53 1.08 1.04 0.84 3.49

 Diluted 0.53 1.08 1.03 0.83 3.48

 

2010 

For the quarters ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Total

(thousands of dollars, except per share data) $ $ $ $ $

Sales 99,360 167,317 161,298 133,071 561,046

Operating income before depreciation of property, 

 plant and equipment and amortization 

 of intangible assets 1 12,241 14,155 22,720 21,929 71,045

Operating income 1 10,474 11,278 19,744 19,194 60,690

Net income for the period 5,788 5,563 12,440 10,650 34,441

Earnings per common share

 Basic 0.46 0.35 0.78 0.67 2.27

 Diluted 0.45 0.35 0.78 0.67 2.26

1    Operating income before depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets and operating income are financial measures not 

prescribed by IFRS and are not likely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. Management considers they represent useful information 

for comparison with other similar operations in our industry, as they present financial results related to industry practice, not affected by non-cash charges or 

capital structure. Operating income before depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets and operating income are readily 

reconcilable to net income presented in our IFRS financial statements, as there are no adjustments for unusual or non-recurring items.

Note:  due to rounding, the sum of results for the quarters may differ slightly from the total shown for the full year.
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FOURTH QUARTER RESUlTS
Sales for the fourth quarter of 2011 totalled $147.5 million, up from $133.1 million reported for the same period in 2010. This $14.4 million, or 10.9% 
increase, is attributable to solid industry demand for the Company’s core products, including strong advanced deliveries of railway ties, as well as 
a $1.7 million contribution from the Thompson operations, acquired on December 7, 2011. The conversion effect from fluctuations in the value of 
the Canadian dollar, Stella-Jones’ reporting currency, versus the U.S. dollar, had a marginal negative impact of $0.4 million on the value of U.S. dollar 
denominated sales when compared with last year. Excluding these factors, sales increased approximately 10.0%.

Fourth quarter sales of railway ties amounted to $74.4 million in 2011, up from $62.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2010. This $12.0 million, or 
19.2% increase, reflects strong industry demand, including advanced deliveries, and a $1.5 million contribution from the Thompson operations. 
Utility pole sales rose 3.8% to $50.6 million, compared with $48.7 million a year earlier, as a result of higher sales of transmission poles related to 
special projects. Industrial product sales stood at $20.6 million, up from $19.8 million a year ago, in part due to the contribution of the Thompson 
operations. Residential lumber sales were $2.0 million, versus $2.2 million last year.

Operating income amounted to $20.4 million, or 13.8% of sales, in the fourth quarter of 2011, compared with $19.2 million, or 14.4% of sales, in the 
fourth quarter of 2010. Of note, results for the fourth quarter of 2011 included an asset impairment charge of $2.2 million related to the non-cash 
reversal of a customer relationship intangible asset, whereas results for the fourth quarter of 2010 included several items representing net revenues 
of $1.8 million, principally due to the sale of certain assets of the Terre Haute, Indiana facility. Excluding these elements, operating income for the 
fourth quarter of 2011 was $22.6 million, compared with $17.4 million a year earlier.

Net income for the period reached $13.4 million, or $0.83 per share, fully diluted, compared with $10.7 million, or $0.67 per share, fully diluted, 
in 2010. This represents a year-over-year increase in net income of $2.7 million, or 25.5%. 

stateMent oF Financial Position
The Company’s working capital at December 31, 2011 was $273.2 million, an increase of $83.7 million over a working capital balance of $189.5 million 
at December 31, 2010. This variation is mostly attributable to increases of $38.3 million and $20.2 million in inventories and accounts receivable, 
respectively, and to a $29.3 million reduction in bank indebtedness, as explained below.

Current assets amounted to $330.5 million as at December 31, 2011 compared with $269.0 million at December 31, 2010. Most of this increase is 
attributable to higher inventories and accounts receivable.

The value of accounts receivable was $76.5 million as at December 31, 2011 compared with $56.3 million as at December 31, 2010. This variation 
of $20.2 million reflects increased business activity and, to a lesser extent, the acquisition of the Thompson operations shortly before year end and 
the effect of local currency appreciation on U.S. based accounts receivable.  

Inventories stood at $243.6 million as at December 31, 2011, up from $205.3 million as at December 31, 2010. This increase reflects the inventory 
build-up ahead of anticipated sales growth and to a lesser extent, the acquisition of the Thompson operations shortly before year end and the effect 
of local currency appreciation on U.S. based inventories.  

Because of the long periods required to air season wood, which can occasionally exceed nine months before a sale is concluded, inventories are 
a significant component of working capital. However, solid relationships and long-term contracts with certain customers enable the Company to 
better ascertain inventory requirements. The Company believes that its cash flow from operations and available credit facilities are adequate to meet 
its working capital requirements for the foreseeable future.    

Property, plant and equipment stood at $119.4 million as at December 31, 2011, compared with $104.8 million as at December 31, 2010. This increase 
is essentially related to the acquisition of the Thompson operations and to the purchase of property, plant and equipment for the year ($7.8 million) 
exceeding depreciation ($4.5 million). 
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The value of intangible assets reached $71.1 million as at December 31, 2011. Intangible assets include customer relationships, the discounted 
value of the non-compete agreements, a creosote registration, cutting rights and standing timber. As at December 31, 2010, intangible assets were 
$64.2 million. The increase mainly stems from the Thompson acquisition ($12.5 million) and from the effect of local currency appreciation on U.S. 
based intangible assets, partially offset by an amortization charge of $4.2 million for 2011 and an asset impairment charge of $2.2 million related to 
the non-cash reversal of a customer relationship intangible asset.

As at December 31, 2011, the value of goodwill stood at $91.7 million, up from $74.0 million a year earlier. The $17.7 million increase in goodwill 
reflects the Thompson acquisition ($16.0 million) and, to a lesser extent, the effect of local currency appreciation on U.S. based goodwill.

On July 28, 2011, the Company and SJ Holding, as borrowers, entered into an agreement to amend and restate in its entirety their existing revolving 
credit agreement. The existing demand revolving facility ($50.0 million and US$75.0 million) made available by a syndicate of bank lenders under the 
March 24, 2010 amendment was replaced by a committed revolving facility in the amount of $170.0 million, to be used to repay and refinance existing 
indebtedness and for working capital and general corporate purposes. The $170.0 million committed revolving facility is being made available for 
a five-year term by a syndicate of lenders. Borrowings may be obtained in the form of prime rate loans, bankers’ acceptances, U.S. base rate loans, 
LIBOR loans in U.S. dollars and letters of credit.

The interest rate margin with respect to Canadian prime rate loans and U.S. base rate loans will range from 0.25% to 1.50% based on a pricing 
grid (previously 0.75%). The interest rate margin with respect to bankers’ acceptances, LIBOR loans and fees for letters of credit will range from 
1.25% to 2.50% based on a pricing grid (previously 2.0%). As collateral for the committed revolving facility, the bank lenders hold a first ranking 
charge over the majority of the assets, tangible and intangible, present and future of Stella-Jones, SJ Holding and their material subsidiaries.

As a result of this agreement, all bank indebtedness is now considered long-term debt with the exception of the Company’s proportion of the 
operating line of its joint venture. Consequently, bank indebtedness stood at $2.6 million as at December 31, 2011, down from $31.9 million as 
at December 31, 2010. 

The Company’s long-term debt, including the current portion, rose to $180.1 million as at December 31, 2011, from $125.8 million as at 
December 31, 2010.  The increase essentially reflects the new credit agreement. On April 1, 2011, Stella-Jones proceeded with the advanced 
repayment of US$15.0 million in the capital amount of a non-convertible debenture. As at December 31, 2011, an amount of $125.0 million had been 
drawn against the Company’s committed revolving facility of $170.0 million.

Shareholders’ equity was $331.9 million as at December 31, 2011 compared with $280.1 million as at December 31, 2010. This increase of 
$51.8 million is mainly attributable to net income of $55.7 million and a $5.2 million decrease in accumulated other comprehensive loss, partially 
offset by dividends on common shares totalling $8.0 million. Book value stood at $20.80 per common share as at December 31, 2011, up from 
$17.59 per share as at December 31, 2010.  

liQuiDity anD caPital ResouRces
The following table sets forth summarized cash flow components for the periods indicated:

summary of cash flows  Fiscal years ended

  December 31, 2011  December 31, 2010

(thousands of dollars) $  $

Operating activities   32,794   81,608
Financing activities   4,862  7,775
Investing activities  (37,656)  (89,383)
Cash and cash equivalents  —   —
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The Company’s activities, acquisitions and purchases of property, plant and equipment are primarily financed by cash flows from operating activities, 

long-term debt, and the issuance of common shares. The Company’s committed revolving facility is made available for a five-year term and is thus 

considered long-term debt. 

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital components and interest and income tax paid was $99.6 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2011, compared with $78.1 million for 2010. This increase mostly reflects a higher net income for the year.  

Changes in non-cash working capital components reduced liquidity by $36.4 million in 2011, as increases of $12.0 million and $30.2 million, 

respectively, in accounts receivable and inventories were partially offset by a $6.2 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

These variations essentially reflect higher business activity. In 2010, changes in non-cash working capital components had provided liquidity of 

$27.2 million, mainly due to a $31.3 million reduction in inventories. 

Interest and income tax paid further reduced liquidity by $8.6 million and $21.8 million, respectively, in 2011, versus $10.0 million and $13.7 million, 

respectively, a year earlier. The reduction in interest paid mainly stems from lower interest rates resulting from the July 28, 2011 amendment and 

restatement of existing credit agreements and to the early repayment of certain higher interest bearing long-term obligations on April 1, 2011 and in 

the fourth quarter of 2010, as mentioned above. Meanwhile, the increase in income tax paid reflects the higher income for the year.

As a result, cash flows provided by operating activities were $32.8 million in 2011, versus $81.6 million in 2010.

Financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 provided liquidity of $4.9 million. The main factors explaining this cash generation were 

the increase of long-term debt totalling $98.3 million, partially offset by a $80.1 million repayment in long-term debt. These factors are mainly related 

to the July 28, 2011 amendment and restatement of the Company’s credit agreement as mentioned above. The Company also paid dividends on 

common shares of $8.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2010, financing activities provided liquidity of $7.8 million.        

Investing activities required $37.7 million in cash during 2011, as the acquisition of Thompson resulted in a cash outlay of $29.0 million, while 

purchases of property, plant and equipment, mainly for the addition of various equipment upgrades and expansion, required an investment of 

$7.8 million. For 2010, cash flows from investing activities decreased liquidity by $89.4 million as a result of the Tangent acquisition.

The following table details the maturities of the financial obligations as at December 31, 2011:

carrying  contractual less than 1 – 3 4 – 5 More than

 amount cash flow 1 year years years 5 years

(in thousands of dollars) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Bank indebtedness1 2,585 2,657 2,657 — — —

accounts payable and accrued liabilities 43,693 43,693 43,693 — — —

long-term debt obligations1 180,094 207,154 7,715 21,288 170,325 7,826

Net settled interest swaps — 3,996 1,134 1,815 1,047 — 

Other contractual obligations — 27,984 6,901 8,846 3,453 8,784

Non-compete agreements 2,582 2,848 1,265 1,583 — —

total 228,954 288,332 63,365 33,532 174,825 16,610
1  Amounts include capital and interest
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SHaRE aND StOcK OPtION INFORMatION

As at December 31, 2011, the capital stock issued and outstanding consisted of 15,955,303 common shares (15,922,668 as at December 31, 2010). 

The following table presents the outstanding capital stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2011:

year Ended December 31, 2011 Number of shares (in ‘000s)

Balance – Beginning of year 15,923

Stock option plan 22

Employee share purchase plans 10

Balance – End of year 15,955

As at March 15, 2012, the capital stock issued and outstanding consisted of 15,961,330 common shares.

As at December 31, 2011, the number of outstanding options to acquire common shares issued under the Company’s Stock Option Plan was 

158,800 (December 31, 2010 – 181,000) of which 119,500 (December 31, 2010 – 128,300) were exercisable. As at March 15, 2012, the number of 

outstanding options was 155,200, of which 115,900 were exercisable.

DIVIDENDS

On March 15, 2012, the Board of Directors modified its dividend policy to consider the declaration of a dividend on a quarterly rather than on a 

semi-annual basis. Immediately thereafter, the Board approved a quarterly dividend of $0.15 per common share payable on April 30, 2012 to 

shareholders of record at the close of business on April 2, 2012. On August 10, 2011, the Board of Directors declared a semi-annual dividend of $0.26 

per common share payable on October 7, 2011 to shareholders of record at the close of business on September 2, 2011.  

The declaration, amount and date of any future dividends will continue to be considered by the Board of Directors of the Company based upon and 

subject to the Company’s covenants in its loan documentation as well as its financial performance and cash requirements. There can be no assurance 

as to the amount or timing of such dividends in the future.

cOMMItMENtS aND cONtINgENcIES

The Company is from time to time involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. It is the opinion of 

Management that a final determination of these proceedings cannot be made at this time but should not materially affect the Company’s financial 

position or results of operations.

The Company has issued guarantees amounting to $27.9 million (2010 – $30.7 million) under letters of credit and various bid and performance 

bonds. The Company’s management does not believe these guarantees are likely to be called on and, as such, no provisions have been recorded in 

the financial statements.

The Company’s operations are subject to Canadian Federal and Provincial as well as U.S. Federal and State environmental laws and regulations 

governing, among other matters, air emissions, waste management and wastewater effluent discharges. The Company takes measures to comply 

with such laws and regulations. However, the measures taken are subject to the uncertainties of changing legal requirements, enforcement practices 

and developing technological processes.
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cuRRent econoMic conDitions
OPERATIONS
The Company’s core railway tie and utility pole product categories are integral to the North American basic transportation and utility infrastructure. 
Such infrastructure needs to be regularly maintained, which provides Stella-Jones with relatively steady demand for its core products. In 
periods of economic growth, the Company may also benefit from additional demand stemming from expansions to the railway and 
telecommunication networks.

Based on current market conditions, Management continues to expect business activity to remain solid in 2012. Increased freight volume on North 
American railroads should lead to continued investments in the continental rail network, including ties, as operators constantly seek optimal line 
efficiency. Demand is expected to hold for utility poles, as regular maintenance projects provide a stable business flow for distribution poles, while 
the vigour of the transmission pole market is more correlated to the timing of orders, mostly for special projects.

lIQUIDITy
As at December 31, 2011, the Company is in full compliance with its debt covenants and contractual obligations. In addition, as at December 31, 2011, 
an amount of $125.0 million had been drawn against the Company’s committed revolving facility of $170.0 million.

Accounts receivable increased in 2011, mostly due to strong demand for the Company’s core products. Management considers that all recorded 
receivables are fully collectible as major customers, mainly Class 1 railroad operators and large-scale utility service providers, have good credit 
standing and limited history of default. 

Inventories also increased in 2011 mainly due to higher projected sales volumes. To ensure efficient treating operations, given that air-dried wood 
reduces treatment cycles, inventory turnover has historically been relatively low. Nevertheless, Management continuously monitors the levels of 
inventory and market demand for its products. Production is adjusted accordingly to optimize efficiency and capacity utilization.  

RisKs anD unceRtainties
ECONOMIC CONDITIONS
The continuing difficulties in global credit markets, softening economies and an apprehension among customers may negatively impact the markets 
the Company serves in all of its operating categories. Additionally, the current negative economic conditions may affect most or all of the markets it 
serves at the same time, reducing demand for its products and adversely affecting its operating results.  These economic conditions may also impact 
the financial condition of one or more of the Company’s key suppliers, which could affect its ability to secure raw materials and components to meet 
its customers’ demand for its products.

DEPENDENCE ON MAJOR CUSTOMERS
The Company is dependent on major customers for a significant portion of its sales, and the loss of one or more of its major customers could result in 
a significant reduction in its profitability as a whole or the profitability at a particular payment. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company’s 
top ten customers accounted for approximately 47% of its sales. During this same period, the Company’s two largest customers accounted for 
approximately 14% and 6%, respectively, of its total sales.

AVAIlABIlITy AND COST OF RAW MATERIAlS
Management considers that the Company may be affected by the industry-wide concerns of long-term availability of competitively priced wood and 
potential fluctuations in wood prices. While the Company has entered into long-term cutting licenses and benefits from long-standing relationships 
with private woodland owners and other suppliers, there can be no assurance that such licenses will be respected or renewed on expiry, or that its 
suppliers will continue to provide adequate timber to the Company.
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In addition, there are a limited number of suppliers for certain of the preservatives that the Company employs in its production process, which 

lessens the availability of alternate sources of supply in the event of unforeseen shortages or disruptions of production. While the Company is 

mitigating this risk by researching and identifying alternate suppliers outside of its traditional sources of supply, there can be no assurance that it will 

be able to secure the supply of all materials required to manufacture its products.

ENvIRONMENTAL RISk

The Company is subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to emission to the air, discharges into water, 

releases of hazardous and toxic substances, and remediation of contaminated sites. These environmental laws and regulations require the Company 

to obtain various environmental registrations, licenses, permits and other approvals, as well as carry out inspections, compliance testing and meet 

timely reporting requirements in order to operate its manufacturing and operating facilities.

The enforcement of these environmental laws and regulations by regulatory agencies will continue to affect the Company’s operations by imposing 

operating and maintenance costs and capital expenditures required for compliance. Failure to comply could result in civil or criminal enforcement 

actions, which could result, among others, in the payment of substantial fines, often calculated on a daily basis, or in extreme cases, the disruption or 

suspension of operations at the affected facility. 

Under various federal, provincial, state and local laws and regulations, the Company could, as the owner, lessor or operator, be liable for the costs of 

removal or remediation of contamination at its sites. The remediation costs and other costs required to clean up or treat contaminated sites could be 

substantial. However, in certain cases, the Company benefits from indemnities from the former owners of its sites. Contamination on and from the 

Company’s sites may subject it to liability to third parties or governmental authorities for injuries to persons, property or the environment and could 

adversely affect the Company’s ability to sell or rent its properties or to borrow money using such properties as collateral.

The possibility of major changes in environmental laws and regulations is another risk faced by the Company. While it is not possible to predict  

the outcome and nature of these changes, they could substantially increase the Company’s capital expenditures and compliance costs at the 

facilities affected.

While the Company has been party to environmental litigation in the past, which have included, among others, claims for adverse physical effects and 

diminution of property value, the outcomes and associated costs have not been material. There is, however, no guarantee that this will continue to 

be the case in the future, as the result of disputes regarding environmental matters and conclusions of environmental litigation cannot be predicted.

The Company’s business has grown and its image strengthened, in large part by its consistent production and delivery of high quality products, 

while maintaining as well, a high level of environmental responsibility. Claims of environmentally irresponsible practices by regulatory authorities or 

local communities could harm the reputation of the Company. Adverse publicity resulting from actual or perceived violations of environmental laws 

and regulations could negatively impact customer loyalty, reduce demand, lead to a weakening of confidence in the marketplace and ultimately, a 

reduction in the Company’s share price. These effects could result even if the allegations are not valid and the Company is not found liable.

RISkS RELATED TO ACQUISITIONS

As part of its growth strategy, the Company intends to acquire additional complementary businesses where such transactions are economically and 

strategically justified. There can be no assurance that the Company will succeed in effectively managing the integration of other businesses which 

it might acquire. If the expected synergies do not materialize, or if the Company fails to successfully integrate such new businesses into its existing 

operations, this could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, profitability and financial position. The Company 

may also incur costs and direct Management’s attention to potential acquisitions which may never be consummated.

In addition, although the Company performs due diligence investigations in connection with its acquisitions, an acquired business could have 

liabilities that the Company fails or is unable to uncover prior to acquisition and for which the Company may be responsible. Such liabilities could 

have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business operating results, profitability and financial position.
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LITIGATION RISk

The Company is subject to the risk of litigation in the ordinary course of business by employees, customers, suppliers, competitors, shareholders, 

government agencies, or others through private actions, class actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory actions or other litigation. The 

outcome of litigation is difficult to assess or quantify. Claimants in these types of lawsuits or claims may seek recovery of very large or indeterminate 

amounts, and the magnitude of the potential loss relating to these lawsuits or claims may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. Regardless 

of outcome, litigation could result in substantial costs to the Company. In addition, litigation could divert Management’s attention and resources 

away from the day-to-day operations of the Company’s business.

INSURANCE COvERAGE

The Company maintains property, casualty, general liability and workers’ compensation insurance, but such insurance may not cover all risks 

associated with the hazards of its business and is subject to limitations, including deductibles and maximum liabilities covered. The Company may 

incur losses beyond the limits, or outside the coverage of its insurance policies, including liabilities for environmental compliance and remediation. 

In addition, from time to time, various types of insurance for companies in the Company’s industry have not been available on commercially 

acceptable terms, or, in some cases, have not been available at all. In the future, the Company may not be able to obtain coverage at current 

levels, and its premiums may increase significantly on coverage that it maintains.

CURRENCy RISk

The Company is exposed to currency risks due to its export of goods manufactured in Canada.

The Company strives to mitigate such risks by purchases of goods and services denominated in U.S. dollars. The Company may also use foreign 

exchange forward contracts to hedge contracted net cash inflows and outflows of U.S. dollars. The use of such currency hedges involves special risks 

including the possible default by the other party to the transaction, illiquidity and to the extent that the assessment of certain market movements is 

incorrect, the risk that the use of hedges result in losses greater than if hedging had not been used.

INTEREST RATE FLUCTUATIONS

As at December 31, 2011, approximately 15% of the Company’s long-term debt was at variable rates, thereby exposing the Company to interest 

rate risk. The Company enters into interest rate swaps in order to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on its long-term debt. These swap 

agreements require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount on which the payments are based. 

The Company designates its interest rate hedge agreements as cash flow hedges of the underlying debt. Interest expense on the debt is adjusted to 

include the payments made or received under the interest rate swaps. However, if interest rates increase, the debt service obligations on the variable 

rate indebtedness of the Company would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and this could have a material adverse 

effect on the Company’s business operating results, profitability and financial position.

CUSTOMERS’ CREDIT RISk

The Company carries a substantial level of trade accounts receivable on its statement of financial position. This value is spread amongst numerous 

contracts and clients. Trade accounts receivable include an element of credit risk should the counterparty be unable to meet its obligations. Although 

the Company reduces this risk by dealing primarily with Class 1 railways, as well as utility and telecommunication companies, and other major 

corporations, there can be no assurance that outstanding accounts receivable will be paid on a timely basis or at all.

INFLUENCE By STELLA JONES INTERNATIONAL S.A.

As at December 31, 2011, Stella Jones International S.A. (“SJ International”) owned or controlled 8,187,909 common shares of the Company,  

which represented approximately 51.3% of the outstanding common shares.  On February 6, 2012, a secondary offering was completed pursuant  

to which SJ International sold to a syndicate of underwriters, on a bought deal basis, 2,000,000 of the Stella-Jones common shares held by  

SJ  International at a price of $42.00 per share.  
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After giving effect to this offering, SJ International beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, 6,187,909 common shares of the Company, 

which represents approximately 38.8% of the outstanding common shares.  As a result, SJ International has the ability to significantly influence all 

matters submitted to the shareholders for approval, including, without limitation, the election and removal of directors, amendments to the articles 

of incorporation and by-laws and the approval of any business combination. The interests of SJ International may not in all cases be aligned with 

the interests of the other shareholders.

SIgNIFIcaNt accOUNtINg POlIcIES 

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in note 2 to the December 31, 2011 and 2010 audited consolidated financial statements.

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as set 

out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate IFRS as 

issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”) and to require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards effective 

for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company commenced reporting on this basis in the March 2011 and 2010 interim 

consolidated financial statements. In the audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the term 

“Canadian GAAP” refers to Canadian GAAP before the adoption of IFRS.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 represent the first annual financial statements  

of the Company and its subsidiaries prepared in accordance with IFRS. Subject to certain transition elections disclosed below, the Company has 

consistently applied the same accounting policies in its opening IFRS statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010 and throughout all periods 

presented as if these policies had always been in effect. Note 4 to the December 31, 2011 and 2010 audited consolidated financial statements 

discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported consolidated statements of financial position, income, comprehensive 

income and cash flows, including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies from those used in the Company’s consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010, prepared under Canadian GAAP. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the estimated useful life of assets, 

impairment of goodwill and impairment of long-lived assets. It is possible that actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences 

could be material. Estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in the consolidated statement of 

income in the period in which they become known.

cHaNgES IN accOUNtINg POlIcIES

ADOPTION OF IFRS

The Company’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 are the first annual consolidated financial statements 

that comply with IFRS. For all accounting periods prior to this, the Company prepared its financial statements under Canadian GAAP. In accordance 

with IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of IFRS, certain disclosures relating to the transition to IFRS are provided below. These disclosures are prepared  

under IFRS as set out in the basis of presentation in note 2 to the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements for the years ended  

December 31, 2011 and 2010.

IFRS 1 requires that comparative financial information be provided. The date at which the Company began applying IFRS, January 1, 2010, is recognized 

as the “Transition Date”. IFRS 1 requires first-time adopters to retrospectively apply all effective IFRS standards as of the reporting date, which for the 

Company is December 31, 2011. However, it also provides for certain optional exemptions and certain mandatory exceptions for first-time adopters.
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INITIAL ELECTIONS UPON ADOPTION

IFRS 1 optional exemptions:

Business combinations – Under IFRS 1, a first-time adopter may elect not to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively to business 

combinations that occurred before the Transition Date. The Company has taken advantage of this election.

Employee future benefits – Under IFRS 1, a first-time adopter may elect to recognize all cumulative actuarial gains or losses deferred under Canadian 

GAAP in opening retained earnings at the Transition Date. The Company has taken advantage of this election.  

cumulative translation adjustment – Under IFRS 1, a  first-time adopter may elect to be exempt from the requirements of IAS 21, The Effects of 

Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, for cumulative translation differences that existed at the Transition Date. It permits cumulative translation 

differences to be reset to zero at the Transition Date. The Company has chosen to apply this election, and has eliminated the cumulative translation 

difference and adjusted retained earnings by the same amount at the Transition Date.

Borrowing costs – Under IFRS 1, an  entity may adopt IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, prospectively and capitalize borrowing costs to projects for which the 

capitalization commencement date is after the Transition Date. The Company has taken advantage of this election.

leases – The Company has elected, under IFRS 1, to apply the exemption from the full retrospective application of International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee Interpretation 4 (“IFRIC 4”), Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, to determine whether an arrangement 

existing as of January 1, 2010 contains a lease based on the facts and circumstances existing at that date.

Share-based payments – Under IFRS 1, a  first-time adopter may choose not to apply IFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to all equity instruments of  

share-based payments that have vested at the Transition Date and not to apply IFRS 2 for all cash-settled share-based payments that have been 

settled before the Transition Date. The Company has elected not to take advantage of this exemption and to apply IFRS 2 to all stock options.

asset retirement obligation – The Company applied the requirements of IFRIC 1, Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar 

Liabilities, which retrospectively requires specified changes in decommissioning, restoration or similar liabilities to be added to or deducted from the 

cost of the asset to which it relates and the adjusted depreciable amount of the asset to then be depreciated prospectively over its remaining useful 

life. The Company elected not to comply with the requirements of IFRIC 1 for changes that occurred in such liabilities before the Transition Date.

IFRS 1 mandatory exceptions:

Hedge accounting – Hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the Transition Date to transactions that satisfy the hedge accounting 

criteria in IAS 39 at that date. Hedging relationships cannot be designated retrospectively, and the supporting documentation cannot be created 

retrospectively. As a result, only hedging relationships that satisfied the hedge accounting criteria as at the Transition Date are reflected as hedges 

in the Company’s results under IFRS. 

Estimates – In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the Transition Date must be consistent with estimates made for the same 

date under previous GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates were in error. The Company’s estimates as at January 1, 2010 are 

consistent with its Canadian GAAP estimates for the same date.

IMPACT OF TRANSITION TO IFRS

IFRS 1 requires an entity to reconcile equity and comprehensive income for periods prior to January 1, 2011. The reconciliations from Canadian 

GAAP to IFRS for the consolidated statements of financial position as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010, and the consolidated statement of 

income and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2010 are summarized in note 4 to the December 31, 2011 and 2010 audited 

consolidated financial statements.

Reconciliations of total operating, investing and financing cash flows are not provided, as the changes to these cash flows are not material.
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IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT yET IMPLEMENTED

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009. It addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces the 

multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement model having only two categories: 

amortized cost and fair value through profit and loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments, and such instruments are 

recognized either at fair value through profit and loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Where such equity instruments are 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, dividends, to the extent they do not clearly represent a return on investment, are 

recognized through profit and loss; however, other gains and losses (including impairments) associated with such instruments remain in accumulated 

other comprehensive loss indefinitely. In December 2011, the effective date of implementation of IFRS 9, which was originally for accounting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2013, was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company has not yet assessed the 

impact of this standard on its financial statements.

In May 2011, the IASB issued the following standards which have not yet been adopted by the Company: IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial 

Statements; IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements; IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities; IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements; IFRS 13, Fair Value  

Measurement; and amended IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Each of the new standards is effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new and 

amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to early adopt any of the new requirements. 

In June 2011, the IASB amended IAS 19, Employee Benefits, and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, which has not yet been adopted by the 

Company. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the amended standards will have on its financial statements.

In December 2011, the IASB amended IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, which has not yet been adopted by the Company. The Company has 

not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the amended standard will have on its financial statements. 

The following is a brief summary of the new standards:

IFRS 10 – Consolidation 

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the 

power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12, Consolidation –  

Special Purpose Entities, and parts of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using 

the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation, the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses 

of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. 

IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special-purpose vehicles and  

off-balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that 

address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard 

clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring 

and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in many cases does not reflect a clear 

measurement basis or consistent disclosures.
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AMENDMENTS TO OTHER STANDARDS

In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, and IAS 28, Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures. IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial statements. 

IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 10, 11, 12 and 13.

IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 

IAS 19 has been amended to make significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and termination 

benefits and to enhance the disclosure of all employee benefits.

The amended standard removes the option to use the “corridor approach” whereby actuarial gains and losses are deferred, and it also removes the 

option to recognize actuarial gains and losses immediately through income. Instead, it requires immediate recognition of actuarial gains and losses 

in other comprehensive income as they arise, without subsequent recycling to net income. Past service cost (which will now include curtailment 

gains and losses) will no longer be recognized over a service period. Instead, past service costs will be recognized immediately in the period of 

a plan amendment. 

Pension benefit cost will be split between (i) the cost of benefits accrued in the current period (service cost) and benefit changes (past service cost, 

settlements and curtailments); and (ii) finance expense or income. The finance expense or income component will be calculated based on the net 

defined benefit asset or liability. The amendments clarify that benefits requiring future services (e.g. stay bonuses) are not termination benefits in the 

scope of IAS 19, and this may result in a different pattern of recognition of such costs.

A number of other amendments have been made to recognition, measurement and classification including redefining short-term and other 

long-term benefits, guidance on the treatment taxes related to benefit plans, guidance on risk/cost sharing features, and expanded disclosures.

The new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements

Presentation of items of other comprehensive income (“OCI”):

IAS 1 has been amended to change the disclosure of items presented in OCI, including a requirement to separate items presented in OCI into two 

groups based on whether or not they may be recycled to the statement of income in the future.

The new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation

The IAS 32 amendments clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position.

The current offsetting model in IAS 32 requires an entity to offset a financial asset and financial liability only when the entity currently has a legally 

enforceable right of set-off and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The amendments clarify that the right of set-off must be available immediately and legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of 

business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

Gross settlement mechanisms with features that both (i) eliminate credit and liquidity risk and (ii) process receivables and payables in a single 

settlement process, are effectively equivalent to net settlement; they would, therefore, satisfy the IAS 32 criterion in these instances. 

The IAS 32 changes are retrospectively applied, with an effective date of annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.
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MaNagEMENt’S DIScUSSION & aNalySIS

DISclOSURE cONtROlS 

The Company maintains appropriate information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information used internally and disclosed externally 

is complete, accurate, reliable and timely.  The disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information 

required to be disclosed in its various reports are recorded, processed, summarized and reported accurately.

The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company have evaluated, or caused  

the evaluation of, under their direct supervision, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Regulation 

52-109 - Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings) as at December 31, 2011, and have concluded that such disclosure controls 

and procedures were designed and operating effectively.

INtERNal cONtROl OVER FINaNcIal REPORtINg

In accordance with the Canadian Securities Administrators’ Regulation 52-109 (Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings), the 

Company has filed certificates signed by the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior vice-President and Chief Financial Officer that, 

among other things, report on the design of disclosure controls and procedures and on the design of internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”).

On January 1, 2011, the Company adopted IFRS as its standard for financial reporting. In connection with the adoption of IFRS, the Company updated 

its ICFR, as necessary, to facilitate the respective IFRS convergence and transition activities performed. Other than the adoption of IFRS, no other 

changes were made to the design of ICFR during the year ended December 31, 2011 that have had a material effect on the Company’s ICFR. 

OUtlOOK

Management expects demand for the Company’s core products to remain solid in 2012. In the railway tie market, increased freight volume on North 

American railroads is leading to greater investments in the continental rail network, as operators constantly seek optimal line efficiency. Meanwhile, 

demand is expected to hold in utility poles, as regular maintenance projects provide a stable business flow for distribution poles, while the strength 

of the transmission pole market is more correlated to the timing of orders, mostly for special projects.

As one of the largest North American providers of industrial treated wood products, Stella-Jones will leverage the strength of its continental network 

to capture more of its existing clients’ business in its core railway tie and utility pole markets, while diligently seeking new market opportunities. The 

Company will also remain focused on improving operating efficiencies throughout the organization.

In the short-term, the Company will continue to focus on cash generation and to maintain a prudent use of leverage. The integration of the Thompson 

operations is another priority and the Company believes it will benefit from greater market penetration, synergies and additional operating 

efficiencies from a larger network. 

Over the long-term, the Company’s strategic vision, focused on continental expansion, remains intact. A solid financial position will allow 

Stella-Jones to continue to seek targets in its core markets that meet its stringent investment requirements, provide synergistic opportunities, 

and add value for shareholders. 

March 15, 2012
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cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS

December 31, 2011 and 2010

Management’s Statement of Responsibility for Financial Information

The consolidated financial statements contained in this Annual Report are the responsibility of management, and have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Where necessary, management has made judgements and estimates of the 
outcome of events and transactions, with due consideration given to materiality. Management is also responsible for all other information in 
the Annual Report and for ensuring that this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information and data included in the  consolidated 
financial statements.

The Company maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of the financial records and safeguarding 
of its assets. The consolidated financial statements have been examined by the Company’s independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and 
they have issued their report thereon.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its responsibilities for financial reporting. The Board 
exercises its responsibilities through the Audit Committee which is comprised of four independent directors. The Audit Committee meets from 
time to time with management and the Company’s independent auditors to review the financial statements and matters relating to the audit. The 
Company’s independent auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee. The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed by 
the Audit Committee, who recommended their approval by the Board of Directors.

Brian McManus George T. Labelle, CA 
President and  Senior vice-President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Saint-Laurent, Quebec
March 15, 2012
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inDePenDent auDitoR’s RePoRt

To the Shareholders of Stella-Jones Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Stella-Jones Inc. and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated 
statements of financial position as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and January 1, 2010 and the consolidated statements of change in shareholders’ 
equity, income, comprehensive income and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related notes, which comprise a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Stella-Jones Inc. and its 
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and January 1, 2010 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Montréal, Quebec
March 15, 2012

1 Chartered accountant auditor permit No. 19983

“PricewaterhouseCoopers” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP/s.r.l./s.e.n.c.r.l., an Ontario limited liability partnership, which is a member firm of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited, each member of which is a separate legal entity.
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cONSOlIDatED StatEMENtS OF FINaNcIal POSItION

(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

     as at As at As at
     December 31, December 31, January 1,
     2011 2010 2010
    Note $ $ $

assets
current assets 
Accounts receivable  6 76,511 56,315 30,160
Derivative financial instruments 21 349 — 2,196
Inventories   7 243,590 205,335 212,590
Prepaid expenses  8,348 4,517 3,223
Income taxes receivable  1,721 2,875 4,726

     330,519 269,042 252,895

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment  8 119,441 104,763 87,684
Intangible assets 9 71,062 64,179 16,781
Goodwill   9 91,720 73,973 5,494
Other assets   10 4,314 5,331 5,185

     617,056 517,288 368,039

liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
current liabilities 
Bank indebtedness 11 2,585 31,923 56,119
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12 43,693 32,426 21,481
Derivative financial instruments 21 171 44 31
Current portion of long-term debt  13 1,465 10,459 4,746
Current portion of provisions and other long-term liabilities 14 9,418 4,705 1,235

     57,332 79,557 83,612

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt  13 178,629 115,369 82,334
Deferred income taxes  17 43,417 34,685 14,284
Provisions and other long-term liabilities 14 2,117 3,668 4,629
Employee future benefits  18 2,271 2,572 2,257
Derivative financial instruments  21 1,378 1,335 1,400

     285,144 237,186 188,516

Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock   15 131,272 130,229 52,019
Contributed surplus   1,342 1,376 1,112
Retained earnings  201,268 155,636 128,015
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (1,970) (7,139) (1,623)
        
     331,912 280,102 179,523

     617,056 517,288 368,039

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors

Tom A. Bruce Jones, CBE  George  J. Bunze, CMA

Director  Director
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consoliDateD stateMents oF cHange in sHaReHolDeRs’ eQuity 

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

accumulated other comprehensive loss

     translation of
     long-term
     debts
    Foreign designated unrecognized  total
    currency as net losses on  share-
 capital contributed Retained  translation investment cash flow  holders’
 stock surplus earnings adjustment hedges hedges total equity
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance – January 1, 2011 130,229 1,376 155,636 (8,471) 2,243 (911) (7,139) 280,102

comprehensive income
Net income for the year — — 55,709 — — — — 55,709
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — (2,105) 6,232 (1,197) 134 5,169 3,064

comprehensive income for the year — — 53,604 6,232 (1,197) 134 5,169 58,773

transactions with shareholders
Dividends on common shares — — (7,972) — — — — (7,972)
Stock option plan 655 — — — — — — 655
Exercise of stock options — (255) — — — — — (255)
Employee share purchase plans 388 — — — — — — 388
Stock-based compensation — 221 — — — — — 221

 1,043 (34) (7,972) — — — — (6,963)

Balance – December 31, 2011 131,272 1,342 201,268 (2,239) 1,046 (777) (1,970) 331,912

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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cONSOlIDatED StatEMENtS OF cHaNgE IN SHaREHOlDERS’ EQUIty  (continued)

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

accumulated other comprehensive loss

        Reclassi-
      translation of  fication
      long-term  to net
      debts Unrecog- income
     Foreign designated nized of losses  total
     currency as net losses on on  share-
  capital contributed Retained  translation investment cash flow cash flow  holders’
  stock surplus earnings adjustment hedges hedges hedges  total equity 
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance – January 1, 2010 52,019 1,112 128,015 — (637) (986) — (1,623) 179,523

comprehensive income

Net income for the year — — 34,441 — — — — — 34,441

Other comprehensive

 income (loss) — — (779) (8,471) 2,880 (85) 160 (5,516) (6,295)

comprehensive income

  for the year — — 33,662 (8,471) 2,880 (85) 160 (5,516) 28,146

transactions with shareholders

Dividends on common shares — — (6,041) — — — — — (6,041)

Exchange of subscription 

 receipts for common shares 

 (note 5(b)) 77,748 — — — — — — — 77,748

Stock option plan 159 — — — — — — — 159

Exercise of stock options — (41) — — — — — — (41)

Employee share purchase plans 303 — — — — — — — 303

Stock-based compensation — 305 — — — — — — 305

  78,210 264 (6,041) — — — — — 72,433

Balance – December 31, 2010 130,229 1,376 155,636 (8,471) 2,243 (1,071) 160 (7,139) 280,102

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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cONSOlIDatED StatEMENtS OF INcOME 

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except earnings per common share)

  Note 2011 2010

   $ $

Sales  640,148 561,046

Expenses 
Cost of sales  515,286 467,783

Selling and administrative  35,835 32,548

Other losses, net  1,059 25

  16 552,180 500,356

Operating income  87,968 60,690

Financial expenses 
Interest on long-term debt   6,777 8,914

Other interest   1,262 1,651

   8,039 10,565

Income before income taxes  79,929 50,125

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes 
Current 17 23,147 16,996

Deferred 17 1,073 (1,312)

   24,220 15,684

Net income for the year  55,709 34,441

Basic earnings per common share 15 3.49 2.27

Diluted earnings per common share 15 3.48 2.26

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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cONSOlIDatED StatEMENtS OF cOMPREHENSIVE INcOME

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

     2011 2010
     $ $

Net income for the year  55,709 34,441

Other comprehensive income (loss) 

Net change in gains (losses) on translation of 
 financial statements of foreign operations  6,232 (8,471)

Change in gains (losses) on translation of long-term debts 
 designated as hedges of net investment in foreign operations   (1,211) 3,228

Income tax on change in gains (losses) on translation of
 long-term debts designated as hedges of net investment
 in foreign operations  14 (348)

Change in gains (losses) on fair value of derivatives

  designated as cash flow hedges   178 (108)

Income tax on change in gains (losses) on fair value of 
 derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  (44) 23

Change in actuarial losses on post-retirement benefit obligations   (2,784) (1,039)

Income tax on change in actuarial losses on post-retirement
  benefit obligations  679 260

Reclassification to net income of losses on cash flow hedges  — 160

     3,064 (6,295)

comprehensive income for the year  58,773 28,146

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Annual Report 2011 41

consoliDateD stateMents oF casH FloWs 

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

   Note 2011 2010
   $ $

cash flows provided by (used in)
operating activities
Net income for the year  55,709 34,441
Adjustments for

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  4,523 4,851
Amortization of intangible assets  4,192 5,502
Interest accretion  1,239 1,405
loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  505 36
Employee future benefits  (1,965) (120)
Stock-based compensation   221 305
loss on derivative financial instruments  — 2,196
Asset impairment  2,206 2,950
Financial expenses  8,039 10,565
Income taxes  23,147 16,996
Deferred income taxes  1,073 (1,312)

 Restricted stock units obligation  747 408
 Other  (9) (160)

    99,627 78,063

Changes in non-cash working capital components
 Accounts receivable  (11,968) (11,560)
 Inventories   (30,204) 31,282
 Prepaid expenses  (3,408) (304)
 Income taxes receivable  (79) 177
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   6,153 5,729
 Asset retirement obligations  (270) (347)
 Provisions and other long-term liabilities  3,359 2,271

   (36,417) 27,248

Interest paid  (8,594) (10,011)
Income tax paid  (21,822) (13,692)

   32,794 81,608

Financing activities
Decrease in bank indebtedness  (4,792) (23,148)
Increase in deferred financing costs  (122) (1,144)
Increase in long-term debt  98,286 66,027
Repayment of long-term debt  (80,108) (103,932)
Non-competes payable  (1,218) (1,311)
Dividend on common shares  (7,972) (6,041)
Proceeds from issuance of common shares  788 421
Proceeds from issuance of subscription receipts  — 76,903

   4,862 7,775

investing activities
Decrease (increase) in other assets  (459) 31
Business acquisition 5 (29,015) (83,565)
Increase in intangible assets  (658) (922)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (7,834) (5,157)
Decrease in assets held for sale  205 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  105 230

   (37,656) (89,383)

net change in cash and cash equivalents during the year  — —

cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year  — —

cash and cash equivalents – end of year  — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOtES tO cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS 

December 31, 2011 and 2010
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

1  DEScRIPtION OF tHE BUSINESS

  Stella-Jones Inc. (the “Company”) is a North American producer and marketer of industrial treated wood products, specializing in the production 

of railway ties and timbers as well as wood poles supplied to electrical utilities and telecommunication companies. The Company manufactures 

the wood preservative creosote and other coal tar-based products and provides the railroad industry with used tie pickup and disposal services. 

Switching, locomotive and railcar maintenance services are also offered, as is tie-derived boiler fuel. The Company also provides treated 

residential lumber products and customized services to lumber retailers and wholesalers for outdoor applications. Other treated wood products 

include marine and foundation pilings, construction timbers, highway guardrail posts and treated wood for bridges. The Company has treating 

and pole peeling facilities across Canada and the United States and sells its products mainly in these two countries. The Company’s headquarters 

are located in Saint-Laurent, Quebec, Canada. The Company is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act, and its common shares 

are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the stock symbol SJ.

2 SIgNIFIcaNt accOUNtINg POlIcIES

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS”)

  The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) 

as set out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate 

IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and to require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards 

effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company commenced reporting on this basis in the March 2011 and 

2010 interim consolidated financial statements. In the present consolidated financial statements, the term “Canadian GAAP” or “CA GAAP” refers 

to Canadian GAAP before the adoption of IFRS.

  These consolidated financial statements represent the first annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries prepared in 

accordance with IFRS. Subject to certain transition elections disclosed in note 4, the Company has consistently applied the same accounting 

policies in its opening IFRS statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010 and throughout all periods presented as if these policies had 

always been in effect. Note 4 discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported consolidated statements of financial 

position, income, comprehensive income and cash flows, including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies from 

those used in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 prepared under Canadian GAAP. These 

consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on March 15, 2012.

 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for derivative financial instruments and 

certain long-term debts which are measured at fair value.

 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

 a) Subsidiaries

   The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The significant subsidiaries 

are as follows: Guelph Utility Pole Company Ltd., I.P.B.-W.P.I. International Inc., 4552822 Canada Inc., 4552831 Canada Inc., Stella-Jones 

Canada Inc., Stella-Jones U.S. Holding Corporation (“SJ Holding”), Stella-Jones Corporation (“SJ Corp”), Stella-Jones U.S. Finance Corporation, 

Canadalux S.à.r.l. and Tangent Rail Corporation (“Tangent”). SJ Holding, SJ Corp, Stella-Jones U.S. Finance Corporation, Canadalux S.à.r.l. and 

Tangent are foreign operations that have a different functional currency from that of the Company.

   Following the close of business on December 31, 2010, Tangent was merged with SJ Corp. The surviving corporation was Tangent, which 

changed its name to Stella-Jones Corporation concurrently with the merger.
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NOtES tO cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS (cONtINUED) 

December 31, 2011 and 2010
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 SIgNIFIcaNt accOUNtINg POlIcIES (cONtINUED)

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

 a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

   The subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally 

accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 

currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully 

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

   The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Company. The consideration transferred 

for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by 

the group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 

arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

   The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the fair value of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of the net identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the 

subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of income. Intercompany transactions, balances 

and unrealized gains on transactions between companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of the 

subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.

b) Joint venture

   The consolidated accounts of the Company include the accounts of a 50% interest in kanaka Creek Pole Company Limited (“kanaka”), 

a joint venture which is accounted for under the proportionate consolidation method of accounting.

   A joint venture entity is an entity in which the Company holds a long-term interest and shares joint control over the strategic, financial and 

operating decisions with one or more other venturers under a contractual arrangement.

FOREIGN CURRENCy TRANSLATION

a) Functional and presentation currency

   Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian 

dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.

b) Foreign currency transactions

   Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Revenue and expenses denominated in a foreign currency are translated by applying the monthly average exchange 

rates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate in effect at the statement of financial 

position date.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 

assets and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency are recognized in the consolidated statement of in come within 

other losses, net, except for qualifying cash flow hedges which are recognized in other comprehensive income and deferred in 

accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity.



44 Stella-Jones

NOtES tO cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS (cONtINUED) 

December 31, 2011 and 2010
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 SIgNIFIcaNt accOUNtINg POlIcIES (cONtINUED)

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

 b) Foreign currency transactions (continued)

    Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to the functional 

currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on translation 

are recognized in the consolidated statement of income, except for differences arising on the translation of available-for-sale (equity) 

investments and foreign currency differences arising on the translation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment, 

which are recognized in other comprehensive income.

   Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at cost remain translated into the functional 

currency at historical exchange rates.

 c) Foreign operations

   The financial statements of entities that have a functional currency different from that of the Company are translated using the rate in 

effect at the statement of financial position date for assets and liabilities, and the average exchange rates during the year for revenues and 

expenses. Adjustments arising from this translation are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity.

 d) Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

   Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations 

are recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective, and are presented within equity. To the extent 

that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. When the hedged part of a net 

investment (the subsidiary) is disposed of, the relevant amount in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of income as part of 

the gain or loss on disposal.

 REvENUE RECOGNITION

  Revenue from the sale of products and services is recognized when the entity has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods, the entity does not retain either continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 

or effective control over the goods sold, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated 

with the transaction will flow to the entity, and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably. Revenue is 

net of trade or volume discounts, returns and allowances and claims for damaged goods.

  The Company enters into service agreements where green tie procurement and tie treating services are offered separately. These services 

consist mainly of procuring, trimming, grading and treating railway ties for which revenue is recognized when the services are provided, 

based on contractual terms. Revenues for green tie procurement, trimming and grading services can be recognized either at the time of the 

green tie sale or when treating services are rendered, depending on the contractual agreement. Treating revenues are recognized at the time 

of treating or when the railway ties are shipped. Under certain agreements, the customer will supply the green ties and the Company will offer 

all of the other services. The Company capitalizes costs incurred to provide the service and reverses them to cost of sales when 

the revenue is recognized.

  The Company offers used tie pickup and disposal services. Revenue is recognized upon reaching certain points in the process of removal of the 

used ties from the customer’s right of way, along side the railway. 
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NOtES tO cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS (cONtINUED) 

December 31, 2011 and 2010
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

2 SIgNIFIcaNt accOUNtINg POlIcIES (cONtINUED)

REvENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)

  The Company also operates timber licences to harvest logs as part of a process to procure raw material for the processing and treatment 

of utility poles. Logs not meeting pole-quality standards are regularly harvested and sold to third parties. Proceeds from the sale of 

non-pole-quality logs are included in the cost of poles sold since the production of non-pole-quality logs is a by-product of the Company’s pole 

raw material procurement operations. Sales of non-pole-quality logs totalled $11,493 for the year ended December 31, 2011 (2010 – $9,433).

CASH AND CASH EQUIvALENTS

  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances and short-term liquid investments with initial maturities of three months or less. 

ACCOUNTS RECEIvABLE

  Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers from the sale of products or services rendered in the ordinary course of business. Accounts 

receivable are classified as current assets if payment is due within one year or less. Accounts receivable are recognized initially at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost, less provision for doubtful accounts.

 INvENTORIES

  Inventories of raw materials are valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value. Finished goods are valued at the lower of 

weighted average cost and net realizable value and include the cost of raw materials, direct labour and manufacturing overhead expenses. Net 

realizable value is the estimated selling price less cost necessary to make the sales.

 PROPERTy, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including borrowing costs incurred during the construction period, less accumulated 

depreciation. The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment to its significant 

parts, and depreciates separately each such part. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis using rates based on the estimated useful 

lives of the assets. 

  Useful life

Buildings 7 to 60 years

Production equipment 5 to 60 years

Anti-pollution equipment 10 to 60 years

Rolling stock 3 to 15 years

Office equipment  2 to 10 years

  Roads are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation, which is provided on the basis of timber volumes harvested. Depreciation amounts 

are charged to operations based on a pro rata calculation of timber volumes harvested over the estimated volumes to be harvested in the 

licensed area served by the road, and are applied against the historical cost.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

BORROWING COSTS

  Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost of those assets, until such 

time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognized as interest expense in the consolidated 

statement of income in the period in which they are incurred.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

  Intangible assets with finite useful lives are recorded at cost and are amortized over their useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 

lives are recorded at cost and are not amortized. The amortization method and estimate of the useful life of an intangible asset are reviewed on 

an annual basis:

  Method Useful life

Customer relationships Straight-line and declining balance 3 to 25 years

Non-compete agreements Straight-line 6 years

 Creosote registration — Indefinite

  Standing timber costs are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization, which is provided on the basis of timber volumes harvested. In 

Canada, the Company has perpetual cutting rights where planning and site preparation costs for specific geographical areas are capitalized until 

the harvest process can begin. Amortization amounts are charged to operations based on a pro rata calculation of timber volumes harvested 

over the estimated volumes to be harvested in the specific area.

  Cutting rights are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization, which is provided on the basis of timber volumes harvested. Amortization 

amounts are charged to operations based on a pro rata calculation of timber volumes harvested over the estimated volumes to be harvested 

during a 40-year period, and are applied against the historical cost.

  The creosote registration is subject to an annual impairment test or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it 

might be impaired.

GOODWILL

  Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the Company’s share of the net identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition. Goodwill 

is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups 

of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

IMPAIRMENT

  Impairments are recorded when the recoverable amounts of assets are less than their carrying amounts. The recoverable amount is the higher 

of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. Impairment losses are evaluated for potential reversals when events or changes in 

circumstances warrant such consideration, except goodwill.

Non-financial assets

  The carrying values of non-financial assets with finite lives, such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives, 

are assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Long-

lived assets that are not amortized are subject to an annual impairment test. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 

costs to sell and its value in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU). An impairment loss 

is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purpose of assessing impairment, 

assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 

that have suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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IMPAIRMENT (CONTINUED)

Goodwill

  The carrying value of goodwill is tested annually for impairment. Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for the purpose of impairment testing based on 

the level at which management monitors it, which is not higher than that of an operating segment. The allocation is made to those CGUs that 

are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

LEASES

  Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments 

made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-

line basis over the term of the lease.

  The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company assumes substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower 

of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

  Each finance lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance consolidated charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance 

balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in long-term debt. The interest element of the 

finance cost is charged to the consolidated statement of income over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

  The depreciable amount of a leased asset is allocated to each accounting period during the period of expected use on a systematic basis 

consistent with the depreciation policy the Company adopts for depreciable assets that are owned. If there is reasonable certainty that the 

Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the period of expected use is the useful life of the asset; otherwise, the asset is 

depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

  Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sales transaction and 

a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell if their carrying amount is to 

be recovered principally through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.

PROvISIONS

  Provisions for reforestation, site remediation and other provisions are recognized when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and when a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation. If some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another 

party, the reimbursement is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position as a separate asset, but only if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received.

  Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 

passage of time is recognized as other interest expense.

  The Company considers the current portion of provision to be an obligation whose settlement is expected to occur within the next 

12 months.
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PROvISIONS (CONTINUED)

Reforestation obligations

  The Forest Act (British Columbia) and the Forests Act (Alberta) require the industry to assume the costs of reforestation on certain harvest 

licences. Accordingly, the Company records its best estimate, which is the fair value of the cost of reforestation in the period in which the 

timber is harvested, with the fair value of the liability determined with reference to the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 

Reforestation costs are included in the costs of current production.

Site remediation obligations

  Site remediation obligations relate to the discounted present value of estimated future expenditures associated with the obligations of 

restoring the environmental integrity of certain properties. The Company reviews estimates of future site remediation expenditures on an 

ongoing basis and records any revisions, along with the accretion expense on existing obligations, in selling and administrative expenses in 

the consolidated statement of income.

  At each reporting date, the liability is remeasured for changes in discount rates and in the estimate of the amount, timing and cost of the work 

to be carried out.

INCOME TAXES

  The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of income, except to the extent that it 

relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly to shareholders’ equity.

Current tax

  The current income tax charge is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable or not deductible. Current tax is 

calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management periodically 

evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Provisions are 

established where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

  Deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and 

laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the deferred 

tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized in respect of temporary differences that arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities 

acquired other than in a business combination.

EMPLOyEE FUTURE BENEFITS

 Other post-retirement benefit programs

  The cost of future benefits earned by employees is established by actuarial calculations using the projected benefit method pro-rated on years 

of service based on management’s best estimate of economic and demographic assumptions.
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EMPLOyEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

  The Company provides other post-retirement health care benefits to certain retirees. The entitlement to these benefits is usually conditional on 

the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits 

are attributed from the date when service by the employee first leads to benefits under the plan, until the date when further service by the 

employee will lead to no material amount of further benefits. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 

actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Defined benefit pension plan

  The Company accrues obligations and related costs under defined benefit pension plans, net of plan assets. The cost of pensions earned by 

employees is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment 

performance, salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and discount rates on obligations. For the purpose of calculating the expected 

return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair market value. Past service costs from plan amendments are recognized in income, unless 

the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this 

case, the past-service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other 

comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are recognized immediately 

in retained earnings without recycling to the statements of income in subsequent periods. 

STOCk-BASED COMPENSATION AND OTHER STOCk-BASED PAyMENTS

  The Company operates a number of equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation plans under which it receives services from 

employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company or cash payments.

 Equity-settled plan

  The Company accounts for stock options granted to employees using the fair value method. Under this method, compensation expense for 

stock options granted is measured at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model and is charged to operations over the 

vesting period of the options granted, with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus. For grants of share-based awards with graded vesting, 

each tranche is considered a separate grant with a different vesting date and fair value. Any consideration paid on the exercise of stock options 

is credited to capital stock together with any related stock-based compensation expense included in contributed surplus. 

 Cash-settled plan

  The Company has restricted stock units. The Company measures the liability incurred and the compensation expenses at fair value by 

applying the Black-Scholes valuation model. The compensation expenses are recognized in the statements of income over the vesting periods.  

Until the liability is settled, the fair value of that liability is remeasured at each reporting date, with changes in fair value recognized in the 

statements of income.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company 

has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the 

contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when there is a 

legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously.

  At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on the purpose for which the 

instruments were acquired:

a)  Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or financial liability is classified in this category if 

acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term. Derivatives are also included in this category unless they 

are designated as hedges. Interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts are the only derivative financial instruments held by 

the Company and are designated as cash flow hedges (see (e) below).

   Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction costs are expensed in the 

consolidated statement of income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are presented in the consolidated statement of 

income as part of other gains and losses in the period in which they arise. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss are classified as current except for the portion expected to be realized or paid beyond 12 months of the statement of financial 

position date, which is classified as non-current.

b)  Available-for-sale investments: Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not 

classified in any of the other categories. 

   Available-for-sale investments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains 

or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income. Available-for-sale investments are classified as 

non-current unless they mature within 12 months, or management expects to dispose of them within 12 months.

   Interest on available-for-sale investments, calculated using the effective interest method, is recognized in the consolidated statement of 

income as part of interest income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of 

income as part of other gains and losses when the Company’s right to receive payment is established. When an available-for-sale investment 

is sold or impaired, the accumulated gains or losses are moved from accumulated other comprehensive income to the consolidated 

statement of income and are included in other gains and losses.

c)  Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. The Company’s loans and receivables comprise accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents, and are included in 

current assets due to their short-term nature.

   Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received, less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans 

and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less 

a provision for impairment.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

d)  Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank 

indebtedness and long-term debt. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are initially recognized at the amount required to be paid, less, 

when material, a discount to reduce the payables to fair value. Subsequently, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. Bank indebtedness and long-term debt are recognized initially at fair value, net of any 

transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

   Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 12 months. Otherwise, they are presented as 

non-current liabilities.

e)  Derivative financial instruments: The Company uses derivatives in the form of interest rate swaps to manage risks related to its variable 

rate debt and foreign exchange forward contracts to limit its exposure to the fluctuations of the U.S. dollar. All derivatives classified as 

held-for-trading are included in the consolidated statement of financial position, are classified as current or non-current based on the 

contractual terms specific to the instrument, with gains and losses on remeasurement recorded in income. All derivatives qualifying for 

hedge accounting are included in the consolidated statement of financial position and are classified as current or non-current based on the 

contractual terms specific to the instruments, with gains and losses on remeasurement included in other comprehensive income.

HEDGING TRANSACTIONS

  The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to limit its exposure under contracted cash inflows of sales denominated in 

U.S. dollars. The Company also enters into interest rate swaps in order to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on its short-term and 

long-term debt. These contracts are treated as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes and are not fair-valued through profit and loss.

  Effective derivative financial instruments held for cash flow hedging purposes are recognized at fair value, and the changes in fair value related 

to the effective portion of the hedge are recognized in other comprehensive income. The changes in fair value related to the ineffective portion 

of the hedge are immediately recorded in the consolidated statement of income. The changes in fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts 

and interest rate swaps recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified in the consolidated statement of income under sales and 

interest on long-term debt respectively in the periods during which the cash flows constituting the hedged item affect income.

  When the derivative financial instrument no longer qualifies as an effective hedge, or when the hedging instrument is sold or terminated prior 

to maturity, hedge accounting, if applicable, is discontinued prospectively. Accumulated other comprehensive income related to a foreign 

exchange forward contract and interest swap hedges that cease to be effective are reclassified in the consolidated statement of income 

under foreign exchange gain or loss and interest on long-term debt respectively in the periods during which the cash flows constituting the 

hedged item affect income. Furthermore, if the hedged item is sold or terminated prior to maturity, hedge accounting is discontinued, and the 

related accumulated other comprehensive income is then reclassified in the consolidated statement of income at the original maturity date of 

the hedged item.

  The Company designated a portion of its U.S. dollar-denominated long-term debt as a hedge of its net investment in foreign operations. For 

such debt designated as a hedge of the net investment in foreign operations, exchange gains and losses are recognized in accumulated other 

comprehensive loss.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the period attributable to equity owners of the Company by the 

weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

  Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method. Under this method, earnings per share data are computed as if the 

options were exercised at the beginning of the year (or at the time of issuance, if later) and as if the funds obtained from exercise were used to 

purchase common shares of the Company at the average market price during the year.

 IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT yET IMPLEMENTED

  IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009. It addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces 

the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement model having only two 

categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit and loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments, and such 

instruments are recognized either at fair value through profit and loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Where such equity 

instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, dividends, to the extent they do not clearly represent a return on 

investment, are recognized through profit and loss; however, other gains and losses (including impairments) associated with such instruments 

remain in accumulated other comprehensive loss indefinitely. In December 2011, the effective date of implementation of IFRS 9, which was 

originally for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. 

The Company has not yet assessed the impact of this standard on its financial statements.

  In May 2011, the IASB issued the following standards which have not yet been adopted by the Company: IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial 

Statements; IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements; IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities; IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements; IFRS 13, Fair Value 

Measurement; and amended IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Each of the new standards is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that 

the new and amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to early adopt any of the new requirements. 

  In June 2011, the IASB amended IAS 19, Employee Benefits, and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, which has not yet been adopted by the 

Company. The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the amended standards will have on its financial statements.

  In December 2011, the IASB amended IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, which has not yet been adopted by the Company. The Company 

has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the amended standard will have on its financial statements. 

 The following is a brief summary of the new standards:

 IFRS 10 – Consolidation 

  IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity 

has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12, 

Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, and parts of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.
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IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT yET IMPLEMENTED (CONTINUED)

 IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

  IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be 

accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation, the venturer will recognize its share of the assets, 

liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or 

equity account for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities – 

Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers.

 IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

  IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special-purpose vehicles and 

off-balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements 

that address the nature of, and risks associated with an entity’s interests in other entities. 

 IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

  IFRS 13 is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard 

clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants, at the measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on 

measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in many cases does not 

reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures.

 AMENDMENTS TO OTHER STANDARDS

   In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, and IAS 28, Investments in 

Associates and Joint Ventures. IAS 27 addresses accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial 

statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in IFRS 10, 11, 12 and 13.

 IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 

  IAS 19 has been amended to make significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and termination 

benefits and to enhance the disclosure of all employee benefits.

  The amended standard removes the option to use the “corridor approach” whereby actuarial gains and losses are deferred, and it also removes 

the option to recognize actuarial gains and losses immediately through income. Instead, it requires immediate recognition of actuarial gains 

and losses in other comprehensive income as they arise, without subsequent recycling to net income. Past service cost (which will now include 

curtailment gains and losses) will no longer be recognized over a service period. Instead, past service costs will be recognized immediately in 

the period of a plan amendment. 

  Pension benefit cost will be split between (i) the cost of benefits accrued in the current period (service cost) and benefit changes (past service 

cost, settlements and curtailments); and (ii) finance expense or income. The finance expense or income component will be calculated based on 

the net defined benefit asset or liability. The amendments clarify that benefits requiring future services (e.g. stay bonuses) are not termination 

benefits in the scope of IAS 19, and this may result in a different pattern of recognition of such costs.
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AMENDMENTS TO OTHER STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

  A number of other amendments have been made to recognition, measurement and classification including redefining short-term and other 

long-term benefits, guidance on the treatment taxes related to benefit plans, guidance on risk/cost sharing features, and expanded disclosures.

 The new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

 IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements

 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income (“OCI”):

   IAS 1 has been amended to change the disclosure of items presented in OCI, including a requirement to separate items presented in OCI 

into two groups based on whether or not they may be recycled to the statement of income in the future.

  The new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.

 IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation

  The IAS 32 amendments clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of

financial position.

  The current offsetting model in IAS 32 requires an entity to offset a financial asset and financial liability only when the entity currently has a 

legally enforceable right of set-off and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

  The amendments clarify that the right of set-off must be available immediately and legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal 

course of business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

  Gross settlement mechanisms with features that both (i) eliminate credit and liquidity risk and (ii) process receivables and payables in a single 

settlement process, are effectively equivalent to net settlement; they would, therefore, satisfy the IAS 32 criterion in these instances. 

The IAS 32 changes are retrospectively applied, with an effective date of annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

3 cRItIcal accOUNtINg EStIMatES aND JUDgMENtS

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the 

estimated useful life of assets, impairment of goodwill and impairment of long-lived assets. It is possible that actual results could differ from 

those estimates, and such differences could be material. Estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary, they are 

reported in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they become known.
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3 cRItIcal accOUNtINg EStIMatES aND JUDgMENtS (cONtINUED)

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIvES 

  The Company performs annual goodwill and intangible asset with indefinite useful lives impairment tests. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs 

have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. See note 9 for further details.

 ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIvED ASSETS

  Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives (referred to as “long-lived assets”) are reviewed for impairment when 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable through future operations. This is 

accomplished by determining whether the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount at the assessment date. The recoverable amount is 

the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant 

asset). Estimates of future cash flows are based on judgment and could change. There is measurement uncertainty since adverse changes in 

one or a combination of the Company’s key assumptions or change in use of such operations could require a significant change in the carrying 

amount of the assets tested for impairment.

4 aDOPtION OF IFRS

   The Company’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 are the first annual consolidated financial 

statements that comply with IFRS. For all accounting periods prior to this, the Company prepared its financial statements under Canadian 

GAAP.  In accordance with IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of  IFRS, certain disclosures relating to the transition to IFRS are provided in this note. These 

disclosures are prepared under IFRS as set out in the basis of presentation in note 2.

  IFRS 1 requires that comparative financial information be provided. The date at which the Company began applying IFRS, January 1, 2010, is 

recognized as the “Transition Date”. IFRS 1 requires first-time adopters to retrospectively apply all effective IFRS standards as of the reporting 

date, which for the Company is December 31, 2011. However, it also provides for certain optional exemptions and certain mandatory exceptions 

for first-time adopters.

 INITIAL ELECTIONS UPON ADOPTION

 IFRS 1 optional exemptions

 a)  Business combinations – Under IFRS 1, a first-time adopter may elect not to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively to business 

combinations that occurred before the Transition Date. The Company has taken advantage of this election.

 b)  Employee future benefits – Under IFRS 1, a first-time adopter may elect to recognize all cumulative actuarial gains or losses deferred under 

Canadian GAAP in opening retained earnings at the Transition Date. The Company has taken advantage of this election. 

 c)  Cumulative translation adjustment – Under IFRS 1, a  first-time adopter may elect to be exempt from the requirements of IAS 21, The Effects 

of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, for cumulative translation differences that existed at the Transition Date. It permits cumulative 

translation differences to be reset to zero at the Transition Date. The Company has chosen to apply this election, and has eliminated the 

cumulative translation difference and adjusted retained earnings by the same amount at the Transition Date.

d)  Borrowing costs – Under IFRS 1, an  entity may adopt IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, prospectively and capitalize borrowing costs to projects for 

which the capitalization commencement date is after the Transition Date. The Company has taken advantage of this election.
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4 aDOPtION OF IFRS (cONtINUED)

INITIAL ELECTIONS UPON ADOPTION (CONTINUED)

 e)  Leases – The Company has elected, under IFRS 1, to apply the exemption from the full retrospective application of International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations Committee Interpretation 4 (“IFRIC 4”), Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, to determine 

whether an arrangement existing as of January 1, 2010 contains a lease based on the facts and circumstances existing at that date.

 f )  Share-based payments – Under IFRS 1, a  first-time adopter may choose not to apply IFRS 2, Share-based Payment, to all equity instruments 

of share-based payments that have vested at the Transition Date and not to apply IFRS 2 for all cash-settled share-based payments that  

have been settled before the Transition Date. The Company has elected not to take advantage of this exemption and to apply IFRS 2 to  

all stock options.

 g)  Asset retirement obligation – The Company applied the requirements of IFRIC 1, Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar 

Liabilities, which retrospectively requires specified changes in decommissioning, restoration or similar liabilities to be added to or deducted 

from the cost of the asset to which it relates and the adjusted depreciable amount of the asset to then be depreciated prospectively over 

its remaining useful life. The Company elected not to comply with the requirements of IFRIC 1 for changes that occurred in such liabilities 

before the Transition Date.

 IFRS 1 mandatory exceptions

 a)  Hedge accounting – Hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the Transition Date to transactions that satisfy the hedge 

accounting criteria in IAS 39 at that date. Hedging relationships cannot be designated retrospectively, and the supporting documentation 

cannot be created retrospectively. As a result, only hedging relationships that satisfied the hedge accounting criteria as at the Transition 

Date are reflected as hedges in the Company’s results under IFRS. 

 b)  Estimates – In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the Transition Date must be consistent with estimates made for 

the same date under previous GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates were in error. The Company’s estimates as at 

January 1, 2010 are consistent with its Canadian GAAP estimates for the same date.

 IMPACT OF TRANSITION TO IFRS

  IFRS 1 requires an entity to reconcile equity and comprehensive income for periods prior to January 1, 2011. The following represents the 

reconciliations from Canadian GAAP to IFRS for the consolidated statements of financial position as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010, 

and the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2010.

     Reconciliations of total operating, investing and financing cash flows are not provided, as the changes to these cash flows are not material.
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4 aDOPtION OF IFRS (cONtINUED)

RECONCILIATION OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 As at December 31, 2010 As at January 1, 2010

    CA   CA
    GAAP Adj. IFRS GAAP Adj. IFRS
   Note $ $ $ $ $ $

 assets

 current assets
 Accounts receivable  56,315 — 56,315 30,160 — 30,160
 Derivative financial instruments  — — — 2,196 — 2,196
 Inventories   205,335 — 205,335 212,590 — 212,590
 Prepaid expenses  4,517 — 4,517 3,223 — 3,223
 Income taxes receivable  2,875 — 2,875 4,726 — 4,726
 Deferred income taxes a, m 3,206 (3,206) — 1,683 (1,683) —

    272,248 (3,206) 269,042 254,578 (1,683) 252,895

 Non-current assets 
 Property, plant and equipment b, c 113,956 (9,193) 104,763 96,885 (9,201) 87,684
 Intangible assets b, c 54,986 9,193 64,179 7,580 9,201 16,781
 Goodwill  73,973 — 73,973 5,494 — 5,494
 Other assets d, e, f 6,152 (821) 5,331 4,878 307 5,185
 Deferred income taxes a, m 318 (318) — 1,380 (1,380) —

    521,633 (4,345) 517,288 370,795 (2,756) 368,039

 liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

 current liabilities
 Bank indebtedness  31,923 — 31,923 56,119 — 56,119
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities n 34,697 (2,271) 32,426 21,481 — 21,481
 Derivative financial instruments  44 — 44 31 — 31
 Deferred income taxes a, m 292 (292) — 869 (869) —
 Current portion of long-term debt  10,459 — 10,459 4,746 — 4,746
 Current portion of provisions and other
  long-term liabilities  n 2,434 2,271 4,705 1,235 — 1,235

    79,849 (292) 79,557 84,481 (869) 83,612

 Non-current liabilities
 Long-term debt  115,369 — 115,369 82,334 — 82,334
 Deferred income taxes a, m 37,956 (3,271) 34,685 16,257 (1,973) 14,284
 Provisions and other long-term liabilities k 3,676 (8) 3,668 4,629 — 4,629
 Employee future benefits g, h, i 2,063 509 2,572 1,716 541 2,257
 Derivative financial instruments  1,335 — 1,335 1,400 — 1,400

    240,248 (3,062) 237,186 190,817 (2,301) 188,516

 Shareholders’ equity
 Capital stock  130,229 — 130,229 52,019 — 52,019
 Contributed surplus j 1,136 240 1,376 777 335 1,112
 Retained earnings p 158,934 (3,298) 155,636 130,580 (2,565) 128,015
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss l, q (8,914) 1,775 (7,139) (3,398) 1,775 (1,623)

    281,385 (1,283) 280,102 179,978 (455) 179,523

    521,633 (4,345) 517,288 370,795 (2,756) 368,039
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4 aDOPtION OF IFRS (cONtINUED)

RECONCILIATION OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

 For the year ended December 31, 2010

       CA
       GAAP Adj. IFRS
      Note $ $ $

 Sales     561,046 — 561,046

 Expenses 

 Cost of sales    o 457,428 10,355 467,783

 Selling and administrative    f, i, j, k 32,594 (46) 32,548

 Other losses, net     25 — 25

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization 

  of intangible assets    o 10,355 (10,355) —

       500,402 (46) 500,356

 Operating income     60,644 46 60,690

 Financial expenses

 Interest on long-term debt     8,914 — 8,914

 Other interest     1,651 — 1,651

       10,565 — 10,565

 Income before income taxes     50,079 46 50,125

 Provision for (recovery of) income taxes

 Current      16,996 — 16,996

 Deferred      (1,312) — (1,312)

       15,684 — 15,684

 Net income for the year     34,395 46 34,441

 Basic earnings per common share     2.27  2.27

 Diluted earnings per common share     2.26  2.26
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4 aDOPtION OF IFRS (cONtINUED)

RECONCILIATION OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIvE INCOME

    For the year ended December 31, 2010

        CA
        GAAP Adj. IFRS
       Note $ $ $

 Net income for the year    f, i, j, k 34,395 46 34,441

 Other comprehensive income (loss) 

 Net change in gains (losses) on translation of financial statements 

  of foreign operations     (8,471) — (8,471)

 Change in gains (losses) on translation of long-term debts designated 

  as hedges of net investment in foreign operations      3,228 — 3,228

 Income tax on change in gains (losses) on translation of long-term debts 

  designated as hedges of net investment in foreign operations    (348) — (348)

 Change in gains (losses) on fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges    (108) — (108)

 Income tax on change in gains (losses) on fair value of derivatives  

  designated as cash flow hedges     23 — 23

 Change in actuarial losses on post-retirement benefit obligations    e, h — (1,039) (1,039)

 Income tax on change in actuarial losses on post-retirement benefit obligations   — 260 260

 Reclassification to net income of losses on cash flow hedges    160 — 160

         (5,516) (779) (6,295)

 comprehensive income     28,879 (733) 28,146 

  a)  Under IFRS, it is not appropriate to classify deferred income tax balances as current, irrespective of the classification of the assets or liabilities 

to which the deferred income tax relates or the expected timing of reversal. The deferred income tax balances also have to be presented 

net, as an asset or a liability. Under Canadian GAAP, deferred income tax relating to current assets or current liabilities must be classified as 

current and are not presented net. Accordingly, a current deferred income tax asset of $1,683 and a non-current income tax asset of $1,380 

reported under Canadian GAAP as at January 1, 2010 ($3,206 and $318 respectively as at December 31, 2010) has been reclassified as a 

non-current deferred income tax liability under IFRS. As at January 1, 2010, a current deferred income tax liability of $869 reported under 

Canadian GAAP ($292 as at December 31, 2010) has been reclassified as a non-current deferred income tax liability under IFRS. 

  b)    The Company currently holds cutting rights. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company classified them as property, plant and equipment.

   Under IFRS, cutting rights can be accounted for as operating leases, intangible assets or agricultural assets, depending on the nature of the 

contracts. The Company has concluded that under IFRS the cutting rights should be classified as intangible assets and treated as such under 

IAS 38, Intangible Assets. Accordingly, as at January 1, 2010, $6,150 ($6,314 as at December 31, 2010) has been reclassified from property, 

plant and equipment to intangible assets. 

  c)   The Company currently holds standing timber. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company classified them as property, plant and equipment. The 

Company has analyzed the nature of the standing timber and concluded that under IFRS those assets should be classified as intangible 

assets and are subject to IAS 38. Accordingly, as at January 1, 2010, $3,051 ($2,879 as at December 31, 2010) has been reclassified from 

property, plant and equipment to intangible assets.
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4 aDOPtION OF IFRS (cONtINUED)

d)  As mentioned earlier in IFRS 1 optional exemptions, the Company has elected to take advantage of the exemption related to employee future 

benefits and recognize all its pension plan cumulative actuarial gains or losses through consolidated retained earnings at the Transition 

Date. As a result, the carrying value of the accrued benefit asset has been increased by $307 as at January 1, 2010.

 e)  As described under significant accounting policies in note 2, actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 

actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

   Under Canadian GAAP, the Company applied the corridor method of accounting for such gains and losses. Under this method, gains and 

losses are recognized only if they exceed specified thresholds. The impact of the change of method is a decrease of $699 in the carrying 

value of the accrued benefit asset as at December 31, 2010 in order to recognize the loss of $1,006 for the year. No actuarial gains or losses 

were recognized under Canadian GAAP using the corridor method.

 f )  The expense recognized for the pension plans under IFRS differs from the expense recognized under Canadian GAAP. As at December 31, 2010, 

the impact of that change related to past service costs has resulted in a decrease of the carrying value of the accrued benefit asset of $122.

 g)  As mentioned earlier in IFRS 1 optional exemptions, the Company has elected to take advantage of the exemption related to employee 

future benefits and recognize all its post-retirement benefits cumulative actuarial losses through consolidated retained earnings 

at the Transition Date. As a result, the carrying value of the net liability for employee future benefits has been increased by 

$990 as at January 1, 2010.

 h)  As described under significant accounting policies in note 2, actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 

actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

   The impact of the change of method is an increase in the net liability for employee future benefits obligation of $1,023 as at December 31, 2010 

in order to recognize the actuarial loss of $33 in other comprehensive income for the year. No actuarial gains or losses were recognized under 

Canadian GAAP using the corridor method.

 i)  IAS 19 indicates that employee future benefits should be attributed from the date that first leads to benefits under the plan to the date that 

future service leads to no material amount of further benefits. In the Company’s case, the attribution period for non-unionized employees 

would be the last 10 years of service for full eligibility for the benefits. 

   Under Canadian GAAP, the benefits are attributed from the date of hiring. The impact of the change as at January 1, 2010 is a reduction of 

$449 in the carrying value of the net liability for employee future benefits obligation ($514 as at December 31, 2010).

 j)  Under IFRS, for grants of share-based awards with graded vesting, each tranche is considered a separate grant with a different vesting date 

and fair value. 

   Under Canadian GAAP, the fair value of stock-based awards with graded vesting are calculated as one grant, and the resulting fair value is 

recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. As a result of that change, contributed surplus has been increased and retained 

earnings reduced by $335 as at January 1, 2010. In 2010, that change reduced contributed surplus and increased income by $95 as at 

December 31, 2010.
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4 aDoPtion oF iFRs (continueD)
k)  The Company has restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted on December 18, 2009. Under Canadian gAAP, a liability is accrued based on the 

intrinsic value of the award with changes recognized in the consolidated statement of income each period.

  Under IFRS, an entity must measure the liability incurred at fair value by applying an option pricing model. Until the liability is settled, 
the fair value of that liability is remeasured at each reporting date, with changes in fair value recognized as the awards vest. Starting 
January 1, 2010, the Company used the Black-Scholes valuation model to measure the liability related to its RSUs. No adjustment was 
recorded as at January 1, 2010. As at December 31, 2010, the non-current liability was reduced and income was increased by $8.

l)  As mentioned earlier in IFRS 1 optional exemptions, the Company has elected to reset the cumulative translation adjustment account, which 
includes gains and losses arising from the translation of foreign operations, to zero at the Transition Date. Accumulated other comprehensive 
loss has been increased and retained earnings reduced by $1,775.

m) Deferred income tax liabilities have been adjusted as follows:

    As at As at
       December 31, January 1,
       2010 2010
      Note $ $

  Deferred income tax liabilities
  Employee future benefits – attribution period   i (146) (146) 
  Reclassification from non-current deferred income tax assets  a (318) (1,380)
  Employee future benefits – actuarial losses   d, e, g, h 107 367
  Reclassification from current deferred income tax liabilities  a 292 869
  Reclassification from current deferred income tax assets  a (3,206) (1,683)

      (3,271) (1,973)

 n)  An amount of $2,271 has been reclassified as at December 31, 2010 from accounts payable and accrued liabilities to current portion of 
provisions. This reclassification has been made based on the nature of the liability.

 o)  Depreciation and amortization have been reclassified into cost of sales to comply with the presentation under IFRS.
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4 aDOPtION OF IFRS (cONtINUED)

p) The following is a summary of transition adjustments to retained earnings from Canadian GAAP to IFRS:

    As at As at
      December 31, January 1,
      2010 2010
     Note $ $

  Retained earnings as reported under Canadian GAAP    158,934 130,580

  IFRS adjustments increase (decrease)

   Employee future benefits – actuarial gains – pension plan  d 307 307

   Employee future benefits – actuarial loss – pension plan  e (1,006) —

   Employee future benefits – actuarial loss – post-retirement plan  g (990) (990)

   Employee future benefits – actuarial loss – post-retirement plan  h (33) —

   Employee future benefits – attribution period – post-retirement plan i 514 449

   Employee future benefits – year expense – pension plan  f (122) —

   Amortization of employee stock options   j (240) (335)

   Amortization of restricted stock units   k 8 —

   Deferred income tax – actuarial loss – pension plan  m 252 —

   Deferred income tax – actuarial loss – post-retirement plan  m 8 —

   Cumulative translation adjustment   l (1,775) (1,775)

   Deferred income tax   m (221) (221)

      (3,298) (2,565)

  Retained earnings as reported under IFRS    155,636 128,015 

 

 q) The following is a summary of transition adjustments to accumulated other comprehensive loss from Canadian GAAP to IFRS:

      As at As at

      December 31, January 1,

       2010 2010

      Note $ $

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss as reported under Canadian GAAP  (8,914) (3,398)

 IFRS adjustments increase

  Cumulative translation adjustment   l 1,775 1,775

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss as reported under IFRS   (7,139) (1,623)

5 BUSINESS acQUISItION

a)  On December 7, 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Thompson Industries, Inc. (“Thompson”), a provider 

of treated wood products to the railroad industry. Thompson produced treated wood products, mainly railway ties and timbers, at a facility 

located in Russellville, Arkansas. Total cash outlay associated with the acquisition was approximately $29,015 (US$28,719), excluding 

acquisition costs of approximately $423 (US$414). 
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5 BUSINESS acQUISItION (cONtINUED)

   The following fair value determination of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed is preliminary and is based on management’s 

best estimates and information known at the time of preparing these consolidated financial statements. This fair value determination is 

expected to be completed within 12 months of the acquisition date and consequently, changes could occur mainly with respect to intangible 

assets, goodwill and deferred income taxes. Immediately following the acquisition, Thompson was merged with SJ Corp and the surviving 

corporation was SJ Corp. The results of operations of the acquiree have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements 

from the acquisition date.

    The following is a summary of the net assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred at fair value as at the 

acquisition date. The original transaction was made in U.S. dollars and converted into Canadian dollars as at the acquisition date.

 $

Assets acquired 

Non-cash working capital 11,018

Property, plant and equipment 9,452

Cash surrender value of life insurance 150

Customer relationships 12,225

Customer backlog 273

Non-deductible goodwill 15,975

 49,093

Liabilities assumed 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,835

Long-term debt 3,460

Deferred income tax liabilities 7,587

Total net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 35,211

Consideration transferred

Cash 29,015

Unsecured note payable to vendor 5,322

Consideration payable 874

Consideration transferred for shares 35,211 

    The Company’s valuation of intangible assets has identified customer relationships and customer backlog. The assigned useful lives for 

customer relationships are 25 years and 10 months for customer backlog. Goodwill is not amortized nor deductible for tax purposes, and 

represents the future economic value associated with the increased railroad network access, acquired workforce and synergies with the 

Company’s operations. Note 9 provides a roll-forward of the net book value balances of intangible assets and goodwill.

    The Company financed the acquisition through existing credit facilities and an unsecured vendor note of $6,574 (US$6,507), bearing interest 

at 2.67% and repayable in equal instalments over a 10-year period. The vendor note was fair-valued at $5,322 (US$5,268) using an interest 

rate of 7.0%.

   In the period from December 7 to December 31, 2011, the acquiree’s sales and loss before income taxes amounted to $1,690 and $102, 

respectively. On a pro forma basis, management’s estimate of sales and income before income taxes of the combined operations of the 

Company and Thompson for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2011 would have been approximately $687,526 and $84,260 

respectively, had the Thompson acquisition occurred as of January 1, 2011. To arrive at the pro forma estimates, management considered 

the financing structure resulting from the acquisition as well as other adjustments related to the acquisition.



64 Stella-Jones

NOtES tO cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS (cONtINUED) 

December 31, 2011 and 2010
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

5 BUSINESS acQUISItION (cONtINUED)

b)  On April 1, 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Tangent, a provider of wood crosstie supply chain services 

to the railroad industry. Tangent served the railroad industry with treated wood products, mainly railway ties, through facilities located in 

Warrior, Alabama; Terre Haute and Winslow, Indiana; Alexandria, Louisiana; and McAlisterville, Pennsylvania. The wood preservative, creosote, 

was produced at its distilleries in Terre Haute, Indiana and Memphis, Tennessee. Life cycle solutions consisting of used tie pickup and disposal 

were carried out at three facilities, in Alabama, Minnesota and North Carolina. This acquisition expands the Company’s capabilities in the 

U.S. railway tie industry and provides it with creosote manufacturing operations.

   Total cash outlay associated with the acquisition was approximately $172,700 (US$170,000), including cash on hand of $6,800 (US$6,700) 

and excluding acquisition costs of approximately $2,000 (US$2,000). This amount includes $90,400 (US$89,000) paid to Tangent’s 

shareholders, $81,300 (US$80,100) used to reimburse Tangent’s debts with financial institutions and $1,000 (US$ 900) to pay accrued interest 

on these debts.

   The results of operations of Tangent have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date.

   The following is a summary of the net assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration transferred at fair value as at the 

acquisition date. The original transaction was made in U.S. dollars and converted into Canadian dollars as at the acquisition date.

 $

assets acquired 

Non-cash working capital 48,603

Property, plant and equipment 22,734

Customer relationships 20,905

Customer backlog 670

Creosote registration 31,723

Non-deductible goodwill 70,239

Deferred income tax assets 615

 195,489

liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,290

Long-term debt 81,340

Site remediation obligation 1,311

Deferred income tax liabilities 23,983

total net assets acquired and liabilities assumed 83,565

consideration transferred

Cash 172,694

Payment of accrued interest (956)

Payment of long-term debt (81,340)

Cash on hand (6,833)

consideration transferred for shares 83,565 
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5 BUSINESS acQUISItION (cONtINUED)

   The Company’s valuation of intangible assets has identified customer relationships, a creosote registration and customer backlog. The 

assigned useful lives for customer relationships are between 6 and 10 years, and 3 months for customer backlog. The creosote registration 

is not subject to amortization as the Company considers it to have an indefinite useful life. Goodwill is not amortized nor deductible for 

tax purposes, and represents the future economic value associated with the increased railroad network access, acquired workforce and 

synergies with the Company’s operations. Note 9 provides a roll-forward of the net book value balances of intangible assets and goodwill.

   Financing for the transaction was secured through an $80,050 private placement of subscription receipts which successfully 

closed on March 15, 2010, as well as through the issuance to the Solidarity Fund QFL of a $25,395 (US$25,000) unsecured, subordinated 

and non-convertible debenture, the addition of a $40,632 (US$40,000) syndicated bank term facility which successfully closed on 

March 24, 2010, and the increase of existing operating debt facilities. More details on financing facilities can be found in notes 11 and 

13. Underwriting and legal fees related to the private placement of subscription receipts amounted to $3,147, generating net proceeds 

of $76,903. The subscription receipts were exchanged as at the close of business, April 1, 2010, for common shares in the capital stock of 

the Company on the basis of one common share per subscription receipt. The Company recorded the capital stock issuance at a value of 

$77,748, as the net proceeds were subject to a deferred income tax adjustment of $845. Holders of subscription receipts were not required 

to take any action in order to receive the common shares to which they were entitled. As the subscription receipts were sold on a private 

placement basis, these common shares were subject to regulatory restrictions on resale until July 16, 2010. 

   During the nine-month period ended December 31, 2010, Tangent’s sales and income before taxes amounted to $120,456 and 

$8,923, respectively. On a pro forma basis, management’s estimate of sales and income before taxes of the combined operations of 

the Company and Tangent for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2010 would have been approximately $601,360 and $54,924, 

respectively, had the Tangent acquisition occurred as of January 1, 2010. To arrive at the pro forma estimates, management considered the 

financing structure resulting from the acquisition as well as other adjustments related to the acquisition.

6 accOUNtS REcEIVaBlE

as at As at As at
 December 31, December 31, January 1,
 2011 2010 2010
 $ $ $

Trade receivables 72,673 53,912 29,026

Less: Provision for doubtful accounts (414) (279) (496)

Trade receivables – net 72,259 53,633 28,530

Other receivables 4,252 2,682 1,630

 76,511 56,315 30,160
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6 accOUNtS REcEIVaBlE (cONtINUED)

  As at December 31, 2011, trade receivables of $25,900 (December 31, 2010 – $22,389) were past due but not impaired. These past due balances 

are related to various independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.

The aging of gross trade receivables at each reporting date was as follows:

as at As at As at
 December 31, December 31, January 1,
 2011 2010 2010
 $ $ $

Current 46,359 31,244 17,073

Past due 1-30 days 18,066 14,910 8,903

Past due 31-60 days 5,918 4,671 2,392

Past due more than 60 days 2,330 3,087 658

 72,673 53,912 29,026 

  As at December 31, 2011, trade receivables of $414 (December 31, 2010 – $279) were impaired and provided for. Details of the provision for 

doubtful accounts are as follows:

 as at As at As at
 December 31, December 31, January 1,
 2011 2010 2010
 $ $ $

Balance – Beginning of year 279 496 244

Provision (recovery) 210 (180) 396

Bad debt write-off (81) (13) (88)

Foreign exchange adjustments 6 (24) (56)

Balance – End of year 414 279 496

  The variation of the provision for doubtful accounts has been included in selling and administrative expenses in the consolidated 

statement of income.

7 INVENtORIES
as at As at As at

 December 31, December 31, January 1,
 2011 2010 2010
 $ $ $

Raw materials 187,660 149,102 160,351

Finished goods 55,930 56,233 52,239

 243,590 205,335 212,590
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8 PROPERty, PlaNt aND EQUIPMENt

      Production 
      and anti-
      pollution Rolling Office
   Land Roads Buildings equipment stock equipment Total
   $ $ $ $ $ $ $

as at January 1, 2010 

Cost 6,498 2,617 22,497 83,167 6,467 1,984 123,230

Accumulated depreciation — (853) (4,712) (26,863) (2,178) (940) (35,546)

Net book amount 6,498 1,764 17,785 56,304 4,289 1,044 87,684

year ended December 31, 2010 

Opening net book amount 6,498 1,764 17,785 56,304 4,289 1,044 87,684

Acquisition of subsidiary 1,582 — 4,013 13,439 3,612 88 22,734

Additions — 340 879 3,594 40 681 5,534

Disposals — — — — (264) — (264)

Depreciation — (318) (654) (2,489) (980) (410) (4,851)

Transfer to assets held for sale (314) — (1,412) — — — (1,726)

Impairment — — — (1,394) (339) — (1,733)

Exchange differences (152) — (565) (1,653) (234) (11) (2,615)

closing net book amount 7,614 1,786 20,046 67,801 6,124 1,392 104,763

as at December 31, 2010

Cost 7,614 2,957 25,284 96,691 8,856 2,722 144,124

Accumulated depreciation — (1,171) (5,238) (28,890) (2,732) (1,330) (39,361)

Net book amount 7,614 1,786 20,046 67,801 6,124 1,392 104,763

year ended December 31, 2011

Opening net book amount 7,614 1,786 20,046 67,801 6,124 1,392 104,763

Acquisition of subsidiary 3,031 — 3,446 2,108 765 102 9,452

Additions — 349 1,289 6,872 5 660 9,175

Disposals — — — (292) (300) (18) (610)

Depreciation — — (660) (2,695) (924) (244) (4,523)

Depreciation included in inventory — (475) (20) (7) (3) (35) (540)

Reversal of impairment — — — 280 — — 280

Exchange differences 101 — 318 779 97 149 1,444

closing net book amount 10,746 1,660 24,419 74,846 5,764 2,006 119,441

as at December 31, 2011

Cost 10,746 3,306 30,379 106,733 9,397 3,474 164,035

Accumulated depreciation — (1,646) (5,960) (31,887) (3,633) (1,468) (44,594)

Net book amount 10,746 1,660 24,419 74,846 5,764 2,006 119,441 
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8 PROPERty, PlaNt aND EQUIPMENt (cONtINUED)

  Additions to production and anti-pollution equipment costs include $58 (2010 – nil) of interest capitalized at an average borrowing rate of 3.23%.

  Pursuant to the Tangent acquisition made in 2010, the Company has increased its production capacity and has consolidated the production of 

its railway tie requirements. As a result, the Spencer plant in West virginia will be producing lower annual volumes going forward. This decision 

by management triggered a requirement to test the Spencer plant’s long-lived assets for recoverability, which resulted in a $1,733 impairment 

expense recorded in the 2010 second quarter income.

  A piece of production equipment impaired in 2010 due to its non-utilization is now being used by the Company. Consequently, the impairment 

charge of $280 has been reversed in 2011.

9 INtaNgIBlE aSSEtS aND gOODWIll

  The intangible assets, which include customer relationships, non-compete agreements, cutting rights, standing timber and a creosote 

registration, were initially evaluated at fair value, which subsequently became the cost. The presentation in the consolidated statements of 

financial position is at cost less accumulated amortization and the related amortization expense is included in cost of sales in the consolidated 

statements of income.

  Customer relationships comprise long-term agreements with certain customers and ongoing business relationships. The acquisition cost was 

established based on future benefits associated with these relationships. Intangible assets associated with long-term customer agreements 

are amortized over the terms of the agreements, which range between 3 and 10 years. Intangible assets associated with ongoing business 

relationships are amortized over a period ranging from 10 to 25 years.

  The acquisition cost of the non-compete agreements was established based on the discounted value of future payments using a discount 

rate of 10.2%. For cash flow purposes, this has been treated as a non-cash transaction. The intangible asset associated with the non-compete 

agreements is amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the agreements, which are 6 years.

  As part of the Tangent acquisition, the Company allocated value to a creosote registration. This intangible asset has an indefinite useful life and 

is therefore not amortized. The creosote registration was initially evaluated at fair value, which subsequently became the cost.
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9 INtaNgIBlE aSSEtS aND gOODWIll (cONtINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR GOODWILL

  Goodwill is allocated for impairment testing purposes to CGUs which reflect how it is monitored for internal management purposes.

  The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based 

on financial budgets covering a five-year period that are based on the latest budgets for revenue and cost as approved by senior management. 

Cash flow projections beyond five years are based on internal management forecasts and assume a growth rate not exceeding gross domestic 

product for the respective countries. Pre-tax cash flow projections are discounted using a real pre-tax discount rate of 10.7%. One percent 

real growth rates are assumed in perpetuity for most of the businesses given the commodity nature of the majority of the products (i.e. 

volume growth is assumed to be offset by real price declines). Perpetuity capital expenditures have been assumed at 60% of depreciation. The 

assumptions used in calculating value in use have considered the current economic environment, resulting in a more conservative estimate 

regarding future value.

  Expected future cash flows are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of 

factors, including market and production estimates, together with economic factors such as prices, discount rates, estimates of production costs 

and future capital expenditure. A 1% increase in the discount rate or a 1% decrease in cash flows would not give rise to an impairment. 

 IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE

  The creosote registration is allocated for impairment testing purposes to CGUs which reflect how it is monitored for internal management 

purposes. The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. value-in-use calculations use cash flow 

projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period that are based on the latest forecasts for revenue and cost as approved 

by senior management. Cash flow projections beyond five years are based on internal management forecasts and assume a growth rate not 

exceeding domestic product for the respective countries. Pre-tax cash flow projections are discounted using a real pre-tax discount rate of 

10.7%. One percent real growth rates are assumed in perpetuity for most of the business given the commodity nature of the majority of the 

products (i.e. volume growth is assumed to be offset by real price declines).

  Expected future cash flows are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of 

factors, including market and production estimates, together with economic factors such as prices, discount rates, estimates of production costs 

and future capital expenditure. A 1% increase in the discount rate or a 1% decrease in cash flows would not give rise to an impairment.
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9 INtaNgIBlE aSSEtS aND gOODWIll (cONtINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE (CONTINUED)

 The net book amount of these intangible assets was as follows:

 Intangible assets

    Non-
 Cutting Standing Customer compete Creosote 
 rights timber relationships agreements registration Total Goodwill

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

as at January 1, 2010

Cost 6,505 4,717 4,603 5,980 — 21,805 5,494

Accumulated amortization (355) (1,666) (1,259) (1,744) — (5,024) —

Net book amount 6,150 3,051 3,344 4,236 — 16,781 5,494

year ended December 31, 2010

Opening net book balance 6,150 3,051 3,344 4,236 — 16,781 5,494

Additions 287 635 — — — 922 —

Addition of Tangent - customer relationships — — 20,905 — — 20,905 —

Addition of Tangent - customer backlog — — 670 — — 670 —

Addition of Tangent - creosote registration — — — — 31,723 31,723 —

Addition of Tangent - goodwill — — — — — — 70,239

Amortization (123) (807) (3,586) (986) — (5,502) —

Exchange differences — — (473) (185) (662) (1,320) (1,760)

closing net book amount 6,314 2,879 20,860 3,065 31,061 64,179 73,973

as at December 31, 2010

Cost 6,792 5,352 25,482 5,659 31,061 74,346 73,973

Accumulated amortization (478) (2,473) (4,622) (2,594) — (10,167) —

Net book amount 6,314 2,879 20,860 3,065 31,061 64,179 73,973

year ended December 31, 2011

Opening net book balance 6,314 2,879 20,860 3,065 31,061 64,179 73,973

Additions — 658 — — — 658 —

Addition of Thompson - customer relationships — — 12,497 — — 12,497 —

Addition of Thompson - goodwill — — — — — — 15,975

Amortization — — (3,258) (934) — (4,192) —

Impairment — — (2,486) — — (2,486) —

Amortization included in inventory (114) (673) — — — (787) —

Exchange differences — — 454 39 700 1,193 1,772

closing net book amount 6,200 2,864 28,067 2,170 31,761 71,062 91,720

as at December 31, 2011

Cost 6,792 6,010 37,965 5,787 31,761 88,315 91,720

Accumulated amortization (592) (3,146) (9,898) (3,617) — (17,253) —

Net book amount 6,200 2,864 28,067 2,170 31,761 71,062 91,720

   In December 2011, the Company took an impairment charge of $2,486 following the non-renewal of a service contract included in customer 

relationships for which a value was assigned in a previous acquisition.
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10 OtHER aSSEtS

  as at As at As at
 Note December 31, December 31, January 1,
  2011 2010 2010
  $ $ $

Advances and notes receivable  541 536 567

Accrued benefit asset  18 (b) — 1,119 1,723

Assets held for sale*  3,164 3,318 2,895

Other  609 358 —

  4,314 5,331 5,185

*  Assets held for sale mainly represent a building that the Company owns in Ripley, West virginia, and a plant in Stanton, kentucky.

11 BaNK INDEBtEDNESS

   as at As at As at
  Note December 31, December 31, January 1,
   2011 2010 2010
   $ $ $

Demand revolving facility  11(a) — 30,293 —

Demand operating loan with a Canadian bank  11(b) — — 28,786

Demand operating loan with a U.S. bank  11(c) — — 24,969

Proportionate share of kanaka’s demand operating loan  11(d) 2,585 1,630 2,364

   2,585 31,923 56,119
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11 BaNK INDEBtEDNESS (cONtINUED)

a)  On July 28, 2011, the Company and SJ Holding, as borrowers, entered into an agreement to amend and restate in its entirety their existing 

revolving credit agreement dated March 24, 2010 (see note 11(b) and (c)). The existing demand revolving facility was replaced by a five-year 

term committed revolving facility and is presented under long-term debt (note 13(a)). Previously, a demand revolving facility was made 

available to the Company by a syndicate of bank lenders and consisted of Tranche A, a maximum demand operating loan of $50,000 made 

available to the Company, and Tranche B, a maximum demand operating loan of US$75,000 made available to SJ Holding. Borrowings 

were obtained by the Company under Tranche A in the form of Canadian prime rate loans, Canadian bankers’ acceptances (“BAs”), U.S. 

base rate loans, LIBOR loans in U.S. dollars and letters of credit up to a maximum of $5,000. Borrowings were obtained by SJ Holding under 

Tranche B in the form of U.S. base rate loans, LIBOR loans in U.S. dollars and letters of credit. The interest rate margin with respect to 

Canadian  prime rate loans and U.S. base rate loans was 0.75% and with respect to BAs, LIBOR loans and fees for letters of credit, the interest 

rate margin was 2.0%. The borrowing base consisted of 75% in value of acceptable receivables and 50% in value of acceptable inventories, 

up to a maximum of $80,000.

 b)  Previously, the Company had a credit facility with a Canadian bank which was amended and restated as part of the credit agreement entered 

into on March 24, 2010 (note 11(a)).

 c)  Previously, SJ Holding and SJ Corp (collectively “the U.S. subsidiaries”) had a credit facility with a U.S. bank which was amended and restated 

as part of the credit agreement entered into on March 24, 2010 (note 11(a)).

 d)  The Company includes in its consolidated financial statements its 50% proportionate share of kanaka, which has a credit facility with a 

Canadian bank comprising a $7,000 demand operating loan. This loan bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.5%, the bank’s U.S. base 

rate plus 0.5%, LIBOR plus 2.0% or BA rate plus 2.0%. One half of the indebtedness, up to a maximum of $5,000, has been guaranteed by 

Stella-Jones Canada Inc. and the Company.

12 accOUNtS PayaBlE aND accRUED lIaBIlItIES

  as at As at As at
 Note December 31, December 31, January 1,
  2011 2010 2010
  $ $ $

Trade payables  22,367 13,053 8,478

Amounts due to related parties 23 85 36 93

Accrued expenses  14,888 11,261 8,993

Other payables  6,353 8,076 3,917

  43,693 32,426 21,481
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13 lONg-tERM DEBt

  as at As at As at
 Note December 31, December 31, January 1,
   2011 2010 2010
   $ $ $

Committed revolving facility  13(a) 124,989 — —

Revolving term loan with a Canadian bank  13(b) — — 22,098

Term loans with a Canadian bank  13(c) — — 2,539

Term facilities  13(d) — 55,573 —

Term loans with a U.S. bank  13(e) — 7,381 8,693

Unsecured and non-convertible debenture  13(f ) — — 10,000

Unsecured, subordinated and non-convertible debenture  13(g) 25,425 24,865 —

Unsecured and non-convertible debenture  13(h) 10,170 24,865 26,275

Subordinated note  13(i) 5,899 6,112 6,822

Bond – County of Fulton, kentucky 13(j) 4,363 4,399 4,788

Bond – Arkansas Development Finance Authority 13(k) 2,649 — —

Unsecured promissory note  13(l) 5,374 — —

Subordinated promissory note  13(m) — 746 788

Unsecured promissory note  13(n) 394 557 755

Promissory note  13(o) 226 289 373

Promissory note  13(p) 266 296 356

Mortgage loans  13(q) 652 1,717 3,805

Obligation under finance leases     — — 275

   180,407 126,800 87,567

Deferred financing costs   (313) (972) (487)

   180,094 125,828 87,080

Less: Current portion of long-term debt   1,524 10,780 4,811

Less: Current portion of deferred financing costs   (59) (321) (65)

   178,629 115,369 82,334

 a)  On July 28, 2011, the Company and SJ Holding, as borrowers, entered into an agreement to amend and restate in its entirety their  

existing revolving credit agreement. The existing demand revolving facility made available by a syndicate of bank lenders under the 

March 24, 2010 amendment (note 11(a)) was replaced by a committed revolving facility in the amount of $170,000, to be used to repay 

and refinance existing indebtedness and for working capital and general corporate purposes. The $170,000 committed revolving facility 

has been made available for a five-year term by a syndicate of lenders to the Company and SJ Holding (previously Tranche A, a maximum 

demand operating loan of $50,000 made available to the Company, and Tranche B, a maximum demand operating loan of US$75,000 made 

available to SJ Holding). Borrowings may be obtained in the form of prime rate loans, BAs, U.S. base rate loans, LIBOR loans in U.S. dollars 

and letters of credit. The interest rate margin with respect to Canadian prime rate loans and U.S. base rate loans will range from 0.25% to  

1.50% based on a pricing grid (previously 0.75%). The interest rate margin with respect to BAs, LIBOR loans and fees for letters of credit 

will range from 1.25% to 2.50% based on a pricing grid (previously 2.0%). As at December 31, 2011, borrowings from Canadian entities 

denominated in U.S. dollars represented $82,404 (US$81,027), of which $79,529 (US$78,200) was designated as a hedge of net investment 

in foreign operations.
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13 lONg-tERM DEBt (cONtINUED)

  During the year, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements fixing certain rates as described in note 21, Financial instruments.

   As collateral for the committed revolving facility, the bank lenders hold a first ranking charge over all of the assets, tangible and 

intangible, present and future, of the Company, SJ Holding and their material subsidiaries, with the exception of certain assets as outlined 

in the agreement.

 b)  The Company had a two-year revolving term loan which was amended and restated on March 24, 2010 (see note 13(d)).

 c)  The Company had available three term loans of $2,300, $2,700 and $1,900 with a Canadian bank which were amended and restated on 

March 24, 2010 (see note 13(d)).

 d)  On March 24, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with a syndicate of lenders amending and restating, without novation, existing 

term credit agreements and made available a new five-year term facility. Under this new agreement, four facilities (A, B, C and D) were made 

available. Credit facility A was a US$40,000 syndicated bank term loan used for the purpose of acquiring Tangent. The term loan bore interest 

at the bank’s U.S. base rate plus 1.5% or LIBOR plus 3.0%, at the Company’s option. Repayment was in 19 consecutive quarterly principal 

instalments of US$1,425 starting July 1, 2010, and a balloon repayment of US$12,925 constituting the twentieth and final payment of the 

residual capital balance on April 1, 2015. This term loan was designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations. 

   Credit facility B was a two-year revolving term facility in the aggregate principal amount $27,500 maturing February 14, 2012, under which 

borrowings could be made in either Canadian or U.S. dollars. Upon the Company’s request to the lender, this credit facility could have 

been extended for additional one-year terms or converted into a five-year term loan. For loans in Canadian dollars, the credit facility 

bore interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 1.5% or BA rate plus 3.0%, and for loans in U.S. dollars, the credit facility bore interest at the 

bank’s U.S. base rate plus 1.5% or LIBOR plus 3.0%. A US$10,000 loan under this facility was designated as a hedge of net investment in 

foreign operations. The Company entered into an interest rate swap fixing the interest rate on this US$10,000 term loan at a base rate of 

1.53%, which matured in April 2011.

   Credit facility C was a non-revolving term facility in the aggregate principal amount of $2,143 comprising Tranche 1 in the amount of 

$1,157 maturing February 1, 2011 and Tranche 2 in the amount of $986 maturing December 28, 2010. Tranches 1 and 2 were repaid in their 

entirety with the proceeds of the committed revolving facilities and without penalties upon maturity.

   Credit facility D was a non-revolving term facility in the aggregate principal amount of $300 which matured and was repaid in its entirety 

with the proceeds of the committed revolving facilities and without penalties upon maturity on September 30, 2010.

  On August 11, 2011, the remaining balances on credit facilities A and B were repaid in their entirety.

 e)  The U.S. subsidiaries entered into a US$10,000 term loan agreement with a U.S. bank. The term loan was repayable in 84 consecutive average 

monthly instalments of US$119 and maturing July 1, 2015. The loan was subject to two interest rate swaps of US$5,000 each, fixing the rates 

at 5.80% and 5.54% over the term of the loan. On August 11, 2011, the U.S. subsidiaries repaid the term loan in its entirety.

 f )  The Company had available an unsecured and non-convertible debenture bearing interest at 7.72%, repayable in five consecutive annual 

principal instalments of $1,000 beginning July 1, 2011 and a final payment of $5,000 on July 1, 2016. The Company repaid the debenture in 

its entirety on October 4, 2010.
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13 lONg-tERM DEBt (cONtINUED)

g)  On April 1, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement to amend and restate a US$25,000 unsecured, subordinated and non-convertible 

debenture. The amended debenture bears interest at 7.27% (previously 9.75%) and is repayable in a single instalment of US$25,000 on 

April 1, 2016 (previously, a single instalment of US$25,000 on April 1, 2015). No advance repayment will be permitted under the amended 

agreement. The amended debenture was designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations. The amendment was accounted 

for as a modification of the terms of the debt and without penalties.

h)  On April 1, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement to amend and restate a US$25,000 unsecured and non-convertible debenture 

and repaid US$15,000 of the capital amount. The amended debenture bears interest at 7.27% (previously 7.89%) and is repayable in a single 

instalment of US$10,000 on April 1, 2016 (previously, five annual principal repayments of US$2,500 starting on April 1, 2013 and a final 

payment of US$12,500 on April 1, 2018). No advance repayment will be permitted under the amended debenture. The amended debenture 

was designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations. The amendment was accounted for as a modification of the terms of the 

debt and without penalties.

i)  Pursuant to a business acquisition on February 28, 2007, SJ Corp issued a note payable to J.H. Baxter and Co. The note is subordinated to 

existing lenders and bears interest at 5.0%. The note is repayable in five annual principal repayments of US$500, with a final payment of 

US$5,500 on the sixth anniversary date. The note was initially recorded at a fair value of $6,981 using an interest rate of 8.0%. The difference 

between the face value and the fair value of the note is being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.

j)  Bond issued in favour of the County of Fulton, kentucky (the Burke-Parsons-Bowlby Project), Series 2006, repayable in annual principal 

repayments of US$200 starting July 2008 through July 2011, US$300 starting August 2011 through July 2019 and US$400 starting 

August 2019 through July 2026. The bond bears interest at a variable rate based on the SIFMA Municipal Swap Index. On June 15, 2009, the 

Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement fixing the rate at 2.99% up to December 1, 2015. The bond is secured by substantially 

all assets of the Fulton facility, which have a net book value of US$7,683 as at December 31, 2011. The bond was initially recorded in the 

consolidated financial statements at a fair value of US$4,835 using an interest rate of 6.50%. The difference between the face value and the 

fair value of the bond is being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.

   In order to provide security for the timely payment of the principal and interest due on the bond, the U.S. subsidiaries entered into a 

US$5,200 irrevocable letter of credit with the bank that is also the trustee for the Series 2006 Bond Indenture, at an annual fee of 1.0% of the 

outstanding loan balance. The letter of credit expires on January 17, 2026.

 k)  As part of the Thompson acquisition, SJ Corp assumed a bond issued in favour of the Arkansas Development Finance Authority, repayable 

in annual principal repayments ranging from US$145 to US$275 up to September 1, 2024. Interest rates on the bond range from 

5.62% to 5.81% and are payable semi-annually on March 1 and September 1. The bond is secured by all the machinery and equipment of 

the Russellville, Arkansas facility.

 l)  As part of the Thompson acquisition, SJ Corp issued an unsecured promissory note of $6,617 bearing interest at 2.67%. The note is repayable 

in 10 equal instalments up to December 2021. The note was initially recorded at a fair value of $5,357 using an interest rate of 7.0%. The 

difference between the face value and the fair value of the note is being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.

 m)  SJ Corp borrowed US$750 from the Company’s parent company, Stella Jones International S.A., by way of a subordinated promissory note. 

The note was for a term of six years, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 4.5% and was repayable in full on the sixth anniversary of the date 

of disbursement or August 3, 2011. The note was unsecured and subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full of the 

U.S. subsidiaries’  loans to all of its secured lenders. On August 3, 2011, the Company repaid the subordinated promissory note in its entirety 

to Stella Jones International S.A.
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13 lONg-tERM DEBt (cONtINUED)

n)  Unsecured promissory note bearing interest at 8.0%, payable in quarterly instalments of US$53, including interest, and matures on  

October 1, 2013.

 o)  Promissory note payable to the Hickman-Fulton Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 3.0% and repayable 

in 84 equal monthly instalments of principal and interest of approximately US$7 starting January 15, 2008. The note is secured by a US$500 

irrevocable letter of credit issued by a regional financial institution at an annual fee of 1.0% and expiring December 17, 2017. The note was 

initially recorded in the consolidated financial statements at a fair value of US$462 using an interest rate of 5.55%. The difference between 

the face value and the fair value of the note is being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.

 p)  Promissory note payable to the Hickman-Fulton Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, bearing no interest and repayable in 108 equal 

monthly instalments of US$4 starting January 1, 2009. The note is secured by a US$450 irrevocable letter of credit issued by a regional 

financial institution, at an annual fee of 1.0% and expiring December 17, 2017. The note was initially recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements at a fair value of US$354 using an interest rate of 6.0%. The difference between the face value and the fair value of the note is 

being accreted on an effective yield basis over its term.

 q)  On August 11, 2011, the Company repaid a mortgage loan having a balance of US$915. The remaining mortgage loan bears 

interest at a rate of 2.5% as at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 – 3.8%; January 1, 2010 – 5.7%), and certain specific assets  

with a net book value of $883 (December 31, 2010 – $1,891; January 1, 2010 – $5,950) have been pledged as collateral. The mortgage 

loan is denominated in U.S. dollars amounting to US$642 (December 31, 2010 – US$1,726; January 1, 2010 – US$3,620). The remaining 

mortgage loan is repayable in monthly instalments of $9 (December 31, 2010 – $21; January 1, 2010 – $89), including interest, and matures 

in December 2016.

 r)  The repayment requirements on the long-term debt during the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

 Principal
 $

2012 1,955

2013 9,431

2014 1,151

2015 1,091

2016 161,694

Thereafter 7,502

 182,824

Fair value adjustment (2,417)

 180,407

 s)  The aggregate fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was estimated at $179,973 as at December 31, 2011 (2010 – $127,923) based on 

discounted future cash flows, using interest rates available to the Company for issues with similar terms and average maturities.
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14 PROVISIONS aND OtHER lONg-tERM lIaBIlItIES

Provisions Other long-term liabilities

    Non-
 Site    competes  Grand

 Reforestation remediation Others Total RSU payable Total total
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance as at January 1, 2010 1,159 88 — 1,247 15 4,602 4,617 5,864

Provisions charged to income:

 Addition 209 1,311 2,375 3,895 408 — 408 4,303

 Payment (283) (290) — (573) — (1,311) (1,311) (1,884)

 Interest accretion — — — — — 389 389 389

 Exchange differences — — (104) (104) — (195) (195) (299)

Balance as at December 31, 2010 1,085 1,109 2,271 4,465 423 3,485 3,908 8,373

Provisions charged to income:

 Addition 543 2,485 3,754 6,782 747 — 747 7,529

 Payment (312) (3,003) (351) (3,666) — (1,218) (1,218) (4,884)

 Interest accretion — — (44) (44) — 279 279 235

 Exchange differences — 19 227 246 — 36 36 282

Balance as at December 31, 2011 1,316 610 5,857 7,783 1,170 2,582 3,752 11,535

Analysis of provisions and other long-term liabilities

  as at As at As at
  December 31, December 31, January 1,
  2011 2010 2010
  $ $ $

Current

 Provisions  7,169 3,746 315

 Other long-term liabilities  2,249 959 920

Total current  9,418 4,705 1,235

Non-current

 Provisions  614 719 932

 Other long-term liabilities  1,503 2,949 3,697

Total non-current  2,117 3,668 4,629

   11,535 8,373 5,864

 PROvISIONS

 Reforestation

  Stella-Jones Canada Inc. has asset retirement obligations relating to reforestation and site remediation that have been estimated using a  

pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risk specific to the obligation of 4.0% (2010 – 6.6%) to 

approximate the present value of future expenditures.

  Reforestation obligations represent discounted cash flow estimates of future silviculture costs relating to logged areas that are the Company’s 

responsibility to reforest.
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14 PROVISIONS aND OtHER lONg-tERM lIaBIlItIES (cONtINUED)

PROvISIONS (CONTINUED)

Reforestation (continued)

  Future non-discounted reforestation expenditures are estimated at between $338 and $731 in each of the next three years. There are 

uncertainties in estimating future reforestation costs due to potential regulatory changes as well as the impact of weather-related changes on 

reforested areas. Accordingly, the actual cost of reforestation may differ from current estimates.

Site remediation

  Site remediation obligations represent discounted cash flow estimates relating to future environmental remediation costs of former treating sites.

  As part of the Tangent acquisition, the Company acquired a lease on April 1, 2010 for land on which the Terre Haute, Indiana operations are 

located. Under the lease, the Company is required to return the land to its original condition. In 2010, the Company decided to close the 

Terre Haute facility. In order to restore the site to its original condition, remediation work was required, for which a provision of $1,311 was 

recorded in 2010.

Others

  Other provisions comprise $4,507 in legal litigation provisions, $1,057 in a provision set up to acquire the land of the Memphis facility, which is 

presently being leased, and $293 in other provisions.

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

 Restricted stock units 

  On December 18, 2009, certain key executives of the Company were granted RSUs as part of a long-term incentive plan. This plan had been 

approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on December 10, 2009. The number of RSUs initially granted was based on a percentage of the 

executive’s salary, divided by the average trading price of the Company’s common shares on the TSX for the five days immediately preceding the 

grant date. In the case of the President, the number of RSUs initially granted was a fixed number recommended by the Company’s Remuneration 

Committee. Additional RSUs may be issued annually conditional upon the Company attaining a minimum 12.5% return on capital employed.

  As at December 31, 2011, the provision for previously issued RSUs was valued at $1,170 ($423 as at December 31, 2010). The number of additional 

RSUs to be issued will be calculated in the same manner as the initial grant. No RSUs were granted in 2010 and 2011.

  The RSUs are full-value phantom shares payable in cash on the third anniversary of their date of grant, provided the executive is still employed 

by the Company. The amount to be paid is determined by multiplying the number of RSUs by the six-month average trading price of the 

Company’s common shares on the TSX immediately preceding the anniversary.

 Non-competes payable

  As part of a previous acquisition, the Company entered into non-compete agreements for which an intangible asset was recorded (note 9). The 

payable portion of the non-compete agreements was fair-valued at a rate of 10.2%.
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15 caPItal StOcK
  2011 2010

Number of shares outstanding – Beginning of year*   15,923 12,684

Stock option plan*   22 25

Exchange of subscription receipts for common shares*   — 3,202

Employee share purchase plans*   10 12

Number of shares outstanding – End of year*   15,955 15,923  

*  Number of shares is presented in thousands.

a)  Capital stock consists of the following:

  Authorized

   An unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series

   An unlimited number of common shares

b)  Earnings per share

  The following table provides the reconciliation between basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share:

  2011 2010

Net income applicable to common shares   $55,709 $34,441

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding*   15,946 15,163

Effect of dilutive stock options*   61 41

Weighted average number of diluted common shares outstanding*   16,007 15,204

Basic earnings per common share **   $3.49 $2.27

Diluted earnings per common share **   $3.48 $2.26

*  Number of shares is presented in thousands.

**  Basic and diluted earnings per common share are presented in dollars per share.

c)  Stock option plan

   The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”) for directors, officers and employees whereby the Board of Directors or a committee 

appointed for such purpose (“Committee”) may, from time to time, grant to directors, officers or employees of the Company options to 

acquire common shares in such numbers, for such terms and at such exercise prices as are determined by the Board of Directors or such 

Committee. The stated purpose of the Plan is to secure for the Company and its shareholders the benefits of incentives inherent in share 

ownership by directors, officers and employees of the Company.

   Under the Plan adopted on June 13, 1994 and amended on May 3, 1995, March 15, 2001, May 3, 2007 and December 10, 2010, the aggregate 

number of common shares in respect of which options may be granted is 1,200,000 and no optionee may hold options to purchase common 

shares exceeding 5% of the number of common shares issued and outstanding from time to time. The exercise price of an option shall not 

be lower than the closing price of the common shares on the TSX on the last trading day immediately preceding the date of the granting of 

the option. Each option shall be exercisable during a period established by the Board of Directors or Committee, and the term of the option 

may not exceed 10 years. Options will not be assignable and will terminate, in the case of an employee, either 30 or 180 days following 

cessation of service with the Company, depending on the circumstances of such cessation, and in the case of a director who is not an 

employee of the Company, either 30 or 180 days following the date on which such optionee ceases to be a director of the company, 

depending on the circumstances.
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15 caPItal StOcK (cONtINUED)

  Changes in the number of options outstanding under the Plan were as follows:

  2011  2010

  Weighted  Weighted
  average  average
 Number exercise Number exercise
 of options* price** of options* price**

  $  $

Outstanding – Beginning of year 181 22.70 198 20.29

Exercised (22) 18.02 (24) 4.83

Granted — — 7 28.29

Outstanding – End of year 159 23.36 181 22.70

Options exercisable – End of year 120 22.97 128 21.40 

*  Number of options is presented in thousands.

  ** Weighted average exercise price is presented in dollars per option.

  The following options were outstanding under the Plan as at December 31, 2011:

 Options outstanding Options exercisable

  Weighted  Weighted 
  average  average 

year Number exercise Number exercise Expiration
granted of options* price** of options* price** date
  $  $

2005 25 13.00 25 13.00 2015

2006 48 19.57 48 19.57 2016

2007 23 39.58 23 39.58 2017

2009 56 24.05 21 24.05 2016

2010 7 28.29 3 28.29 2020

159  120

*  Number of options is presented in thousands.

**  Weighted average exercise price is presented in dollars per option.

d) Stock-based compensation

   The Company records expenses for the fair value of the stock options granted under the Plan using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

This model determines the fair value of stock options granted and amortizes it to income over the vesting period.

   No options were granted during 2011. On May 7, 2010, 7,500 options were granted at a fair value of $83 and the expense amortized to 

income for this period was $25. The fair value was estimated with the following weighted average assumptions:

 2010

Risk-free interest rate 2.80%

Dividend yield 1.60%

Expected lives 10 years

volatility 38.00%

Weighted average of fair value of options granted during the year $11.13

  In 2011, the total expense relating to stock-based compensation amortized to earnings was $221 (2010 – $305).
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e)  Employee share purchase plans

   The aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance under the Company’s two employee share purchase plans is 250,000.

   Under the first plan, Company employees who are Canadian residents are eligible to purchase common shares from the Company at 

an amount equal to 90% of the market price. Employees who hold common shares in the employee share purchase plan for 18 months 

following the date of acquisition of such shares receive additional common shares of the Company equivalent to 10% of the amount of their 

contributions made on the date of acquisition. In 2011, 6,849 common shares (2010 – 8,513) were issued to Canadian resident employees at 

an average price of $31.79 per share (2010 – $23.45).

   Under the second plan, Company employees who are U.S. residents are eligible to purchase common shares from the Company at market 

price. Employees who hold common shares in the employee share purchase plan for 18 months following the date of acquisition of such 

shares receive additional common shares of the Company equivalent to 10% of the amount of their contributions made on the date of 

acquisition. In 2011, 3,586 common shares (2010 – 3,545) were issued to U.S. resident employees at an average price of $35.25 per share 

(2010 – $25.81).

  As at December 31, 2011, the total number of common shares issued under these plans is 180,323 (2010 – 169,888).

16 EXPENSES By NatURE
  2011 2010
  $ $

Raw materials and consumables used   427,396 385,436

Employee benefit expenses   49,243 44,967

Depreciation and amortization   8,715 10,353

Other expenses incurred in manufacturing process   17,849 17,199

Freight   29,491 25,068

Other expenses   19,486 17,333

   552,180 500,356

   2011 2010
   $ $

Employee benefit expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits   47,794 42,407

Share options granted to directors and employees   221 305

Pension costs   (345) 870

Group registered retirement savings plans   1,573 1,385

   49,243 44,967

 Employee benefit expenses are included in cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses.
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16 EXPENSES By NatURE (cONtINUED)
  2011 2010
  $ $

Other losses, net

Gain on derivative financial instruments   — (19)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   505 —

Foreign exchange loss   554 44

   1,059 25

17 INcOME taXES
    2011 2010
    $ $

current tax

Current tax on income for the year   23,558 16,426

Adjustments in respect of prior years   (411) 570

total current tax   23,147 16,996

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences   (1,384) (2,188)

Impact of change in tax rate   (44) 88

Adjustment in respect of prior years   2,501 788

total deferred tax   1,073 (1,312)

Income tax expense   24,220 15,684

  The tax on the Company’s income before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate 

applicable to income of the consolidated entities as follows:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Income before income tax   79,929 50,125

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates of 28.21% (2010 – 30.05%) 

  applicable to income in the respective countries   22,458 15,062

Tax effects of:

 Difference in tax rate of foreign subsidiaries   3,325 678

 Unrecorded tax benefits   — (52)

 Income not subject to tax   (2,434) (1,860)

 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes   95 1,122

 Remeasurement of deferred tax – change in tax rate   (44) 88

 Adjustment in respect of prior years   2,065 1,397

 Exchange revaluation of deferred tax   45 —

 Manufacturing and processing tax credit   (1,290) (751)

Income tax expense   24,220 15,684
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17 INcOME taXES(cONtINUED)

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

     2011 2010
     $ $

Deferred tax assets

 To be recovered after more than 12 months   — 464

 To be recovered within 12 months   4,995 3,206

Deferred tax liabilities

 To be reversed after more than 12 months   (48,359) (38,063)

 To be reversed within 12 months   (53) (292)

Deferred tax liability, net   (43,417) (34,685)

 The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

     2011 2010
     $ $

as at January 1   (34,685) (14,284)

Statement of income charge   (1,073) 1,311

Tax charge (credit) relating to components of other comprehensive income  642 (171)

Tax charge (credit) directly to equity   — 853

Tax charge (credit) relating to acquisition    (7,638) (23,828)

Foreign exchange   (663) 1,434

as at December 31   (43,417) (34,685) 
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The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within 

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:
     capital loss

      unrealized
    Derivative Deferred on foreign
  Financing  financial pension exchange
Deferred tax assets  fees Reserves instruments benefits on debts total
  $ $ $ $ $ $

as at January 1, 2010  — 1,747 224 313 — 2,284

Charged (credited) to 

 statement of income  (156) 649 332 97 — 922

Charged (credited) to other 

 comprehensive income  — — (76) — — (76)

Charged (credited) to equity  845 — — 8 — 853

Charged (credited) to goodwill  — 953 — — — 953

Exchange differences  — (145) (14) — — (159)

as at December 31, 2010  689 3,204 466 418 — 4,777

Charged (credited) to 

 statement of income  36 2,092 — 122 282 2,532

Charged (credited) to other 

 comprehensive income  — — (51) 56 (282) (277)

Charged (credited) to equity  — — — — — —

Charged (credited) to goodwill  — — — — — —

Exchange differences  6 137 7 — — 150

as at December 31, 2011  731 5,433 422 596 — 7,182
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17 incoMe taxes(continueD)
     capital gain
     unrealized
     on foreign

Property,  Deferred  Derivative  exchange
plant and pension intangible financial investment gain

Deferred tax liabilities equipment benefits assets instruments tax credit on debts total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $

as at January 1, 2010 (14,434) (413) (885) (656) (180) — (16,568)
Charged (credited) to 

statement of income (1,878) (130) 1,558 746 93 — 389
Charged (credited) to other 
 comprehensive income — 252 — (90) — (257) (95)
Charged (credited) to equity — — — — — — —
Charged (credited) to goodwill (4,472) — (20,309) — — — (24,781)
Exchange differences 674 — 919 — — — 1,593

as at December 31, 2010 (20,110) (291) (18,717) — (87) (257) (39,462)

Charged (credited) to 
 statement of income (4,399) (333) 1,185 — (20) (38) (3,605)
Charged (credited) to other
 comprehensive income — 624 — — — 295 919
Charged (credited) to equity — — — — — — —
Charged (credited) to goodwill (2,633) — (5,005) — — — (7,638)
Exchange differences (442) — (371) — — — (813)

as at December 31, 2011 (27,584) — (22,908) — (107) — (50,599)

  The Company did not recognize deferred income tax assets of $198 (2010 – nil) in respect of capital losses amounting to $1,483 (2010 – nil)  
that can be carried forward indefinitely against future taxable capital gain.

  Deferred income tax liabilities have not been recognized for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 
earnings of certain subsidiaries. Such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted earnings totalled $51,713 as at December 31, 2011  
(2010 – $34,153).
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18 EMPlOyEE FUtURE BENEFItS

  The Company recognizes costs for several types of employee future benefits. Other post-employment benefits are offered to certain retired 

employees and consist of group health and dental care, life insurance and complementary retirement benefits. Stella-Jones Canada Inc. 

contributes to a multi-employer plan for certain hourly employees and to four defined benefit pension plans for salaried and certain non-union 

hourly wage employees. All other active employees are entitled to a group registered retirement savings plan to which the Company matches 

1.5 times employee contributions to a maximum of 4%. The recognized costs for employee future benefits were as follows:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Post-retirement benefits   (1,109) 324

Defined benefit pension plans   449 252

Contributions to multi-employer plan   315 294

Contributions to group registered retirement savings plans   1,573 1,385 

 a)  The post-retirement benefits program is not funded. For this program, the Company measures its accrued benefit obligations for accounting 

purposes as at December 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of this plan was as at January 1, 2009, and the next required 

valuation will be as at January 1, 2012. 

  On June 1, 2011 the following changes were made to the post-retirement benefits program:

	 	 	 •	 	All	employees	who	retire	on	or	after	June	1,	2011	are	eligible	to	an	annual	allocation	to	a	Health	Spending	Account	upon	retirement.	

This coverage replaces the current health care coverage.

	 	 	 •	 Current	retirees	maintain	their	coverage	under	their	current	plan.

	 	 	 •	 Employees	maintain	their	post-retirement	life	insurance	coverage.

   The change in plan provisions was treated as a prior service cost. This prior service cost is amortized over the remaining service lifetime to 

full eligibility of the active group that is not vested and is recognized immediately for the vested group. As at June 1, 2011, the prior service 

cost resulting from the plan change was calculated to be $(1,336). 

  The following information as established by independent actuaries pertains to the Company’s post-retirement benefits program:

    2011 2010
    $ $

accrued benefit obligation

Balance – Beginning of year   2,572 2,257

Current service cost   124 183

Past service cost   (1,336) —

Interest cost    103 141

Benefits payments   (42) (42)

Actuarial loss   209 33

Balance – End of year   1,630 2,572

Plan assets

Fair value – Beginning of year   — —

Employer’s contributions   42 42

Benefits paid   (42) (42)

Fair value – End of year   — —

accrued benefit obligation   1,630 2,572



Annual Report 2011 87

NOtES tO cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS (cONtINUED) 

December 31, 2011 and 2010
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

18 EMPlOyEE FUtURE BENEFItS (cONtINUED)

  The significant assumptions used are as follows:

    2011 2010
    % %

accrued benefit obligation as at December 31

Discount rate   4.30 5.40

Rate of compensation increase   2.00 2.00

Benefit costs for the year ended December 31

Discount rate   5.40 5.85

Rate of compensation increase   2.00 2.00

   For measurement purposes, a 9.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed starting in 

2009. This rate is assumed to decrease gradually by 0.5% per year, to reach 5%. Therefore, the rate used to calculate the cost per capita of 

health care cost increases in 2011 was 8.5%. An increase or decrease of 1% in this rate would have the following impact:

    Increase Decrease
    of 1% of 1%

Impact on accrued benefit obligation   77 (66)

Impact on benefit costs   34 (27)

  The items of the Company’s post-retirement benefits program costs recognized during the year are as follows:

    2011 2010
    $ $

Current service cost   124 183

Interest cost   103 141

Past service cost   (1,336) —

Post-retirement benefits program costs recognized   (1,109) 324

 consolidated statement of comprehensive income   2011 2010
    $ $

year ended December 31

Actuarial losses   (209) (33)

total recognized in other comprehensive income before income tax  (209) (33)
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18 EMPlOyEE FUtURE BENEFItS (cONtINUED)

cumulated actuarial losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)  2011 2010

    $ $

Balance of actuarial losses at January 1   (25) —

Net actuarial losses recognized in the year   (153) (25)

Balance of actuarial losses at December 31   (178) (25) 

 b)  The Stella-Jones Canada Inc. defined benefit pension plans base the benefits on the length of service and final average earnings. The 

Company measures its accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year. 

  Actuarial valuations are updated every three years, and the latest valuations performed for the four existing pension plans are as follows:

    Date of last actuarial valuation

Plan 1    December 31, 2010
Plan 2    December 31, 2010
Plan 3    December 31, 2010
Plan 4    December 31, 2011 

   Information about Stella-Jones Canada Inc.’s defined benefit pension plans other than the multi-employer defined benefit plan, in aggregate, 

is as follows:

    2011 2010

    $ $

accrued benefit obligation

Balance – Beginning of year   10,272 8,480

Current service cost   388 309

Past service cost   186 —

Interest cost    568 550

Benefits payments   (413) (371)

Actuarial loss   1,754 1,304

Balance – End of year   12,755 10,272

Plan assets

Fair value – Beginning of year   11,391 10,167

Expected return on assets   681 596

Actuarial gains (losses)   (824) 334

Employer’s contributions   1,267 654

Employee’s contributions   12 11

Benefits paid   (413) (371)

Fair value – End of year   12,114 11,391

accrued benefit asset (liability)   (641) 1,119
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   Included in the above accrued benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets at year-end are the following amounts in respect of benefit 

plans that are not fully funded:

    2011 2010

    $ $

Accrued benefit obligation   5,010 3,924

Fair value of plan assets   4,357 3,537

Funded status – Plan deficit   (653) (387)

  The percentage of plan assets consists of the following for the year ended December 31:

    2011 2010

    % %

Equity securities   57 57

Debt securities   41 37

Short-term investments and cash   2 6

   100 100

  The significant weighted average assumptions used are as follows:

    2011 2010

    % %

accrued benefit obligation as at December 31

Discount rate   4.50 5.50

Inflation assumption   2.30 2.50

Rate of compensation increase   4.00 3.50

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets   7.00 7.00

Benefit costs for the year ended December 31

Discount rate   5.50 6.50

Inflation assumption   2.50 2.50

Rate of compensation increase   3.50 3.50

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets   7.00 7.00 

The items of Stella-Jones Canada Inc.’s defined benefit plan costs recognized during the year are as follows:

    2011 2010

    $ $

Current service cost, net of employee’s contributions   376 298

Interest cost   568 550

Expected return on plan assets   (681) (596)

Past service cost    186 —

Defined benefit plan expense   449 252 
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18 EMPlOyEE FUtURE BENEFItS (cONtINUED)

  Expected contributions to the defined benefit pension plans for the year ending December 31, 2012 are $738.

   The actual return on plan assets was $(145) (2010 – $930), compared to an expected return on plan assets of $681 (2010 – $596); this 

produced an actuarial gain (loss) of $(825) (2010 – $334).

 consolidated statement of comprehensive income   2011 2010

    $ $

year ended December 31

Actuarial losses   (2,575) (1,006)

total recognized in other comprehensive income before income tax  (2,575) (1,006) 

 cumulated actuarial losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss)  2011 2010

    $ $

Balance of actuarial losses at January 1   (754) —

Net actuarial losses recognized in the year   (1,952) (754)

Balance of actuarial losses at December 31   (2,706) (754)
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19 INtERESt IN JOINt VENtURE

  The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s 50% proportionate share, as indicated below, of the income, expenses, assets and 

liabilities of its kanaka joint venture:

    2011 2010

    $ $

assets

current assets

Accounts receivable   92 214

Other receivable   284 187

Income taxes receivable   62 —

Inventories   1,422 464

Prepaid expenses   9 9

    1,869 874

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment   662 741

Other assets   — 77

    2,531 1,692

liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

current liabilities

Bank indebtedness (note 11(d))   2,585 1,630

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   27 62

    2,612 1,692

Shareholders’ equity

Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (81) —

    2,531 1,692

Income

Sales   3,587 2,671

Cost of sales   3,587 2,671

Net income   — —

cash flows provided by (used in)

Operating activities   (943) 753

Financing activities   955 (734)

Investing activities   (12) (19)

     — —
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20 cOMMItMENtS aND cONtINgENcIES

a)  The Company is involved from time to time in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. It is the 

opinion of management that a final determination of these proceedings cannot be made at this time but should not materially affect the 

Company’s financial position or results of operations.

 b)  The Company has issued guarantees amounting to $27,924 (2010 – $30,723) under letters of credit and various bid and performance bonds. 

The Company’s management does not believe these guarantees are likely to be called on. As a result, no provisions have been recorded in 

the consolidated financial statements.

 c) Future minimum payments under operating leases related to land, equipment and rolling stock are as follows:

 $

2012 6,901

2013 5,139

2014 3,707

2015 2,269

2016 1,184

Thereafter 8,784

 27,984

 d)  The Company’s operations are subject to Canadian federal and provincial as well as U.S. federal and state environmental laws and regulations 

governing, among other matters, air emissions, waste management and wastewater effluent discharges. The Company takes measures to 

comply with such laws and regulations. However, the measures taken are subject to the uncertainties of changing legal requirements, 

enforcement practices and developing technological processes.

 e)  The Company has contracts whereby third party licensees that harvest certain areas assume the responsibility for reforestation. Should 

the third party licensees fail to perform, the Company is responsible for these additional future reforestation costs, which are currently 

estimated to be $738 (2010 – $727). Payments, if any, required as a result of this contingency will be expensed in the period in which they 

are determined and are not included in the provision for reforestation.

 f )  The Company has also provided an environmental indemnity agreement to the bank with respect to the Maple Ridge property, the site of 

kanaka’s operations, with liability limited to one half of the monies which become due and owing to the bank under such indemnity.

21 FINaNcIal INStRUMENtS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, CARRyING vALUES AND FAIR vALUES

  The Company has determined that the fair value of its short-term financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts  

as at the statement of financial position dates because of the short-term maturity of those instruments. The fair values of the long-term 

receivables and interest-bearing financial liabilities also approximate their carrying amounts unless otherwise disclosed elsewhere in these 

consolidated financial statements. The fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts and swap agreements has been recorded using  

mark-to-market information.



Annual Report 2011 93

NOtES tO cONSOlIDatED FINaNcIal StatEMENtS (cONtINUED) 

December 31, 2011 and 2010
(amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise indicated)

21 FINaNcIal INStRUMENtS (cONtINUED)

CREDIT RISk

  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. Credit risk arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers.

  The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. Management believes that the 

credit risk of accounts receivable is limited because the Company deals primarily with railroad companies, public service companies and utility 

and telecommunication companies as well as other major corporations.

  Management has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness before the Company’s 

standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Company’s review includes external ratings, where available, and credit 

references from other suppliers. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which represent the maximum open amount not requiring 

additional approval from management. A monthly review of the accounts receivable aging is performed by management for each selling 

location. Customers that fail to meet the Company’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Company only on a prepayment basis.

  Note 6 provides details on the receivable aging as well as on the provision for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 

2010. In 2011, the Company had one customer representing 14% of its sales (2010 – 16%). As at December 31, 2011, the accounts receivable 

balance from this customer amounted to $3,936 (2010 – $2,025).

LIQUIDITy RISk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to managing 

liquidity is to ensure, on a long-term basis, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 

stressed conditions, without incurring losses or risking damage to its reputation. 

  The Company ensures that it has sufficient credit facilities to support working capital, meet expected operational expenses and service financial 

obligations. Inventories are a significant component of working capital because of the long periods required to air-season wood, which can 

occasionally exceed nine months before a sale is made. 

  The Company monitors all financial liabilities and ensures it will have sufficient liquidity to meet these future payments. The operating activities 

of the Company are the primary source of cash flows. The Company also has a committed revolving facility (note 13(a)) made available by a 

syndicate of lenders which can be used for working capital and general corporate requirements. The following table details the maturities of the 

financial liabilities as at December 31, 2011:

     Between Between More
   carrying contractual less than 1 and 3 3 and 5 than
   amount cash flows 1 year years years 5 years

   $ $ $ $ $ $

Bank indebtedness*  2,585 2,657 2,657 — — —

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  43,693 43,693 43,693 — — —

Long-term debt obligations*  180,094 207,154 7,715 21,288 170,325 7,826

Interest rate swaps net settlement  — 3,996 1,134 1,815 1,047 —

Non-competes payable  2,582 2,848 1,265 1,583 — —

  228,954 260,348 56,464 24,686 171,372 7,826 

 *  Including capital and interest
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21 FINaNcIal INStRUMENtS (cONtINUED)

MARkET RISk 

  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Company’s income or the 

value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 

acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk.

 CURRENCy RISk

  The Company’s exposure to foreign exchange gains or losses from currency fluctuations is related to sales and purchases in U.S. dollars by 

its Canadian-based operations and to U.S. dollar denominated long-term debt held by its Canadian companies. The Company monitors its 

transactions in U.S. dollars generated by Canadian-based operations and enters into hedging transactions to mitigate its currency risk. The 

Company’s basic hedging activity consists of entering into foreign exchange forward contracts for the sale of U.S. dollars and the purchase of 

certain goods and services in U.S. dollars. The Company also considers foreign exchange forward contracts for the purchase of U.S. dollars for 

significant purchases of goods and services that were not covered by natural hedges.

  On January 1, 2009, the Company ceased hedge accounting on its foreign exchange forward contracts. As these contracts were designated as 

cash flow hedges, their fair value increment was recorded under accumulated other comprehensive loss and was recognized in income over the 

designated underlying period of foreign exchange forward contracts from March 2009 to December 2010. For the year ended December 31, 2010, 

the loss recognized in income was $160.

  The Company had no foreign exchange forward contracts as at December 31, 2010. In 2011, the Company resumed hedge accounting on 

foreign exchange forward contracts. The following table summarizes the Company’s derivative financial instruments relating to the sale of 

foreign currencies through foreign exchange forward contracts as at December 31, 2011:

  Foreign exchange Notional average Notional Fair
  forward contract amount exchange rate equivalent value

   US$  ca$ ca$

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0387 1,558 32

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0392 1,559 31

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0397 1,559 31

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0400 1,560 31

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0402 1,560 30

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0404 1,561 29

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0406 1,561 29

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0407 1,561 28

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0408 1,561 28

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0409 1,561 27

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0410 1,562 27

Current asset  Sell US$/Buy CA$ 1,500 1.0411 1,562 26

   18,000 1.0403 18,725 349 
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21 FINaNcIal INStRUMENtS (cONtINUED)

CURRENCy RISk (CONTINUED)

  The contracts mature at various dates up to December 31, 2012, and the fair value was determined by obtaining mark-to-market values as 

at December 31, 2011. This type of measurement falls under Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as per IFRS 7, Financial Instrument: Disclosures. 

A description of each level of the hierarchy is as follows:

  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

  Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for these assets or liabilities, either directly 

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

  Level 3:  Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

  A 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar would have resulted in a loss on foreign exchange forward contracts 

recognized in other comprehensive income of approximately $1,181 for the year ended December 31, 2011 (2010 – nil). For a 10% weakening 

of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar, there would be an equal and opposite impact.

  The following table provides information on the impact of a 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar on net income for 

the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. For a 10% weakening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar, there would be an equal and 

opposite impact on net income and comprehensive income (loss):

    2011 2010

    $ $

Gain (loss) to net income   (298) 112

  This analysis considers the impact of foreign exchange variance on financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars which are 

on the statement of financial position of the Canadian entities:

    2011 2010

    $ $

assets

Accounts receivable   1,721 2,060

liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   1,825 939

Long-term debt   2,875 —

   4,700 939

  The foreign exchange impact for the U.S. dollar-denominated long-term debt, in the Canadian entities, has been excluded for the most part from 

the sensitivity analysis for other comprehensive income, as the long-term debt is designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations 

(see note 13(a)).
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21 FINaNcIal INStRUMENtS (cONtINUED)

INTEREST RATE RISk

  As at December 31, 2011, the Company has limited exposure to interest rate risk on long-term debt after giving effect to its interest rate swaps; 

85% (2010 – 65%) of the Company’s long-term debt is at fixed rates.

  The Company enters into interest rate swaps in order to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on its short- and long-term debt. These 

swap agreements require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount on which the payments 

are based. The Company designates its interest rate hedge agreements as cash flow hedges of the underlying debt. Interest expense on the debt 

is adjusted to include the payments made or received under the interest rate swaps.

  The committed revolving facility defined in note 13(a) is made available by a syndicate of bank lenders. The financing of these loans is tied 

to the Canadian bank’s prime rate, the BA rate, the U.S. bank’s base rate or LIBOR. The Company has minimized its exposure to interest rate 

fluctuations by entering into interest rate swaps as detailed below. The impact of a 10% increase in these rates on the average annual balance 

of operating credit facilities, for borrowings that have not been swapped, would have increased interest expense by $105 for the year ended 

December 31, 2011 (2010 – $39).

The following tables summarize the Company’s interest rate swap agreements as at December 31:

     2011
    Notional

 Notional amount Related debt instrument Fixed rate Maturity date equivalent

   %  ca$

 CA$10,000 Committed revolving facility 1.09* August 2014 10,000

 CA$10,000 Committed revolving facility 1.57* August 2016 10,000

 US$25,000 Committed revolving facility 1.16* December 2016 25,425

 US$15,000 Committed revolving facility 1.45* August 2016 15,255

 US$15,000 Committed revolving facility 0.75* August 2014 15,255

 US$15,000 Committed revolving facility 2.57* June 2012 15,255

 US$5,000 Committed revolving facility 5.80 July 2015 5,085

 US$5,000 Committed revolving facility 5.54 July 2015 5,085

 US$1,000 Committed revolving facility 4.69 December 2015 1,017

 US$5,600 Bond – County of Fulton, kentucky 2.99 December 2015 5,695

     2010
     Notional
 Notional amount Related debt instrument Fixed rate Maturity date equivalent
   %  ca$

 CA$2,700 Term facility 5.81 February 2011 2,700

 US$10,000 Term facility 1.53* April 2011 9,946

 US$15,000 Bank indebtedness 2.57* June 2012 14,919

 US$5,000 Term loan with a U.S. bank 5.80 July 2015 4,973

 US$5,000 Term loan with a U.S. bank 5.54 July 2015 4,973

 US$1,000 Mortgage loan 4.69 December 2015 995

 US$5,600 Bond – County of Fulton, kentucky 2.99 December 2015 5,570 

 *  Plus applicable spread
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21 FINaNcIal INStRUMENtS (cONtINUED)

INTEREST RATE RISk (CONTINUED)

  The Company’s interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges. The cash flow hedge documentation allows the Company to substitute 

the underlying debt as long as the hedge effectiveness is demonstrated. As at December 31, 2011, all cash flow hedges were effective.

  The fair value of these financial instruments has been determined by obtaining mark-to-market values as at December 31, 2011 from different 

third parties. This type of measurement falls under Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as per IFRS 7 and is defined in the currency risk section.

  The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements based on cash settlement requirements as at December 31, 2011 is a loss of $1,549 

(2010 – loss of $1,379), of which $171 and $1,378 respectively are recorded in current and non-current liabilities under derivative financial 

instruments. A 10% decrease in interest rates as at December 31, 2011 would have increased the loss recognized in other comprehensive 

income by approximately $155 (2010 – $138). For a 10% increase in the interest rates, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss.

22 caPItal DISclOSURES

  The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to pursue its organic growth strategy and undertake selective 

acquisitions, while at the same time taking a conservative approach to financial leverage and management of financial risk. The Company 

manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying 

assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital 

to shareholders, issue new shares, or acquire or sell assets to improve its financial performance and flexibility.

The Company’s capital is composed of total debt which includes bank indebtedness, and shareholders’ equity which includes capital stock.

  2011 2010

  $ $

Total debt   182,679 157,751

Shareholders’ equity   331,912 280,102

Total capital   514,591 437,853

Total debt to total capitalization ratio   0.35:1 0.36:1

  The Company’s primary uses of capital are to finance non-cash working capital and capital expenditures for capacity expansion as well as 

acquisitions. The Company currently funds these requirements out of its internally generated cash flows and committed revolving facility. 

However, future corporate acquisitions may require new sources of financing. 

  The primary measure used by the Company to monitor its financial leverage is the total debt to total capitalization ratio, which it aims to 

maintain within a range of 0.20:1 to 0.75:1. The total debt to total capitalization ratio is defined as total debt divided by total capital.

  The Company is subject to certain covenants on its committed revolving facility. The covenants include a minimum requirement for funded debt 

to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. The Company monitors the ratios 

on a monthly basis. The ratios are also reviewed by the Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. Other than the 

covenants required for the credit facilities, the Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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23 RElatED PaRty tRaNSactIONS
a) Transactions

  The Company had the following transactions with related parties:

  2011 2010

  $ $

Parent company

 Marketing and technical service fees paid   200 200

 Interest on promissory note   26 32

Ultimate shareholders

 Marketing and technical service fees paid   100 100

Other

 Legal fees charged by a firm in which a director of the Company is a partner  359 186

   These transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and have been measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of 

consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

  As at December 31, the consolidated statement of financial position includes the following amounts with related parties:

   2011 2010

   $ $

Accounts payable to ultimate shareholders   25 —

Accounts payable to parent company   50 12

Long-term debt payable to parent company   — 746

Accounts payable to a firm in which a director of the Company is a partner  10 24

 b) key management compensation

   key management includes directors (executive and non-executive), and certain senior management. The compensation paid or payable to 

key management for employee services is as follows:

   2011 2010

   $ $

Salaries, compensation and benefits   2,041 2,142

Share-based payments   124 171

   2,165 2,313

24 SEgMENt INFORMatION

  The Company operates within one business segment: the production and sale of pressure-treated wood and related services. Operating plants 

are located in the Canadian provinces of Nova Scotia, Quebec, Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia, and in the U.S. states of Pennsylvania, 

virginia, West virginia, kentucky, Wisconsin, Alabama, Indiana, Louisiana, Tennessee, Minnesota, Arkansas and Washington. The Company also 

operates a distribution centre in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador.
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24 SEgMENt INFORMatION (cONtINUED)

Sales attributed to countries based on location of customer are as follows:

  2011 2010

  $ $

Canada   227,952 215,327

U.S.   412,196 345,719

   640,148 561,046

 Sales by product as at December 31 are as follows:

   2011 2010

   $ $

Railway ties   338,790 283,192

Utility poles   194,807 166,681

Industrial products   78,890 81,401

Residential lumber   27,661 29,772

   640,148 561,046

 Property, plant and equipment attributed to the countries based on location are as follows:

   2011 2010

   $ $

Canada   47,992 45,748

U.S.   71,449 59,015

   119,441 104,763

  Intangible assets with a net book value of $61,998 (2010 – $54,986) and goodwill with a value of $91,720 (2010 – $73,973) are attributed to the 

Company’s U.S. operations.

25 SUBSEQUENt EVENt

  On March 15, 2012, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.15 per common share payable on April 30, 2012 to shareholders 

of record at the close of business on April 2, 2012.



100 Stella-Jones

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Richard Bélanger, Fca (1)

President, Toryvel Group Inc.

(Holding company)

Québec, Québec

Director since March 1997

tom a. Bruce Jones, cBE (2)

Chairman of the Board,  

Stella-Jones Inc.

Chairman of the Board,  

James Jones & Sons Limited

(Forest products company)

Larbert, Scotland

Director since July 1993

george J. Bunze, cMa (1) (3)

vice-Chairman and Director, 

kruger Inc.

(Manufacturer of paper, tissue, 

wood products, energy (hydro/

wind) and wine and spirits 

products)

Montréal, Québec

Director since May 2001

gianni chiarva (3)

vice-Chairman of the Board,  

Stella-Jones Inc.

Chairman,  

Stella Jones International S.A.  

Milan, Italy

Director since July 1993

Brian McManus

President and  

Chief Executive Officer,  

Stella-Jones Inc.

Saint-Laurent, Québec

Director since June 2001

Nycol Pageau-goyette (1) (2) (3) (4)

President, Pageau Goyette  

et associés limitée  

(Management services firm)

Chairperson, Sorinco Inc.  

(Waste management company)

President, Montrésor Corporation  

(Holding company)

Montréal, Québec

Director since July 1993

Daniel Picotte (2)

Partner, Fasken Martineau  

DuMoulin LLP (Law firm)

Montréal, Québec

Director since July 1993

John Barrie Shineton (1)

President and CEO,  

Norbord Inc.  

(Producer of oriented  

strand board)

Toronto, Ontario

Director since May 2009

Mary Webster (2)

Corporate Director

Wayzata, MN, USA

Director since May 2007

(1) Member of the Audit Committee

(2)  Member of the Environmental, Health 
and Safety Committee

(3) Member of the Remuneration Committee

(4) Lead Director 

A full report of Stella-Jones’ corporate 
governance practices is set out in the Proxy 
Circular for the May 3, 2012 Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders.

OFFICERS

tom a. Bruce Jones, cBE

Chairman of the Board

gianni chiarva

vice-Chairman of the Board

Brian McManus

President and  

Chief Executive Officer

george t. labelle, ca

Senior vice-President and  

Chief Financial Officer

Marla Eichenbaum

vice-President,  

General Counsel and Secretary

gordon Murray

vice-President, Environment 

and Technology and General 

Manager,

Atlantic Region

Martin Poirier

vice-President and  

General Manager,  

Central Region

Rémi godin, cga

vice-President and  

Corporate Comptroller

Eric Vachon, ca

vice-President and Treasurer

george caric

vice-President, Marketing

Stella-Jones Corporation

W.g. Downey, Jr.

vice-President, Manufacturing

Stella-Jones Corporation

Douglas J. Fox

Senior vice-President,  

Engineering and Operations,

Stella-Jones Corporation

Kris Hedding

vice-President, Sales

Stella-Jones Corporation

Ian Jones

vice-President and  

General Manager,

Stella-Jones Canada Inc.

James Kenner

vice-President and  

General Counsel, U.S. 

Operations

Stella-Jones Corporation

glen Ritchie

vice-President, Fibre,

Stella-Jones Canada Inc.

Michael Sylvester

vice-President, Operations

Stella-Jones Corporation

Rick thompson

vice-President and  

General Manager,

Guelph Utility Pole Company 

Ltd.

SUBSIDIARIES – SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors and Officers



Annual Report 2011 101

Operating Locations – Canada

CORPORATE HEAD OFFICE

3100 de la Côte-vertu Blvd.

Suite 300

Saint-Laurent, Québec

H4R 2J8

T: (514) 934-8666

F: (514) 934-5327

montreal@stella-jones.com

BRITISH COLUMBIA

Plant and Sales Office

25 Braid Street

New Westminster

British Columbia

v3L 3P2

T: (604) 521-4385

F: (604) 526-8597

n.west@stella-jones.com

Plant and Sales Office

7177 Pacific Street

Prince George

British Columbia

v2N 5S4

T: (250) 561-1161

F: (250) 561-0903

p.george@stella-jones.com

Fibre & Woodlands Dept.

Stella-Jones Canada Inc.

4661 60th Street SE

Salmon Arm

British Columbia

v1E 1X2

T: (250) 832-1180

F: (250) 832-7933

salmonarm@stella-jones.com

Pole Peeling yard

Stella-Jones Canada Inc.

West Trans Canada Hwy.

1221 Pole yard Road

P.O. Box 2178

Revelstoke, British Columbia

v0E 2S0

T: (250) 837-5061

F: (250) 837-6533

Pole Peeling yard

23562 River Rd.S.

S.11, M.2, C.5

Maple Ridge

British Columbia

v2W 1B7

T: (604) 463-8195

F: (604) 463-4612

ALBERTA

Plant

Stella-Jones Canada Inc.

39 miles SE of Calgary

Hwy. 24

P.O. Box 99

Carseland, Alberta

T0J 0M0

T: (403) 934-4600

F: (403) 934-5880

carseland@stella-jones.com

ONTARIO

Plant and Sales Office

Guelph Utility Pole

Company Ltd.

7818 Wellington Road 22

P.O. Box 154, R.R. #5

Guelph, Ontario

N1H 6J2

T: (519) 822-3901

F: (519) 822-5411

info@guelphpole.com

Distribution yard

555 Station Street

P.O. Box 262

Belleville, Ontario

k8N 5A2

T: (613) 966-2637

F: (613) 966-4521

info@guelphpole.com

QUÉBEC

Plant and Sales Office

41 Rodier Street

Delson, Québec

J5B 2H8

T: (450) 632-2011

T: 1 (800) 387-5027

F: (450) 632-3211

delson@stella-jones.com

Plant and Sales Office

426 chemin de Montréal East

Gatineau, Québec

J8M 1v6

T: (819) 986-8998

F: (819) 986-9875

mlauzon@stella-jones.com

Plant

2210 chemin St-Roch

Sorel-Tracy, Québec

J3R 3L2

T: (450) 742-5977

F: (450) 742-8832

jgaudreau@stella-jones.com

NEWFOUNDLAND

Distribution centre and Sales 

Office

I.P.B. – W.P.I. International Inc.

dba Newfoundland Hardwoods

2 Hardwoods Road

Clarenville, Newfoundland

A5A 1H2

T: (709) 466-7941

F: (709) 466-2170

rtilley@stella-jones.com

NOvA SCOTIA

Plant and Sales Office

278 Park Street

P.O. Box 278

Truro, Nova Scotia

B2N 5C1

T: (902) 893-9456

F: (902) 893-3874

truro@stella-jones.com
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Operating Locations – United States

CORPORATE OFFICE

Stella-Jones Corporation

Two Gateway Center,  

Suite 1000

603 Stanwix Street

Pittsburgh, PA 

15222 U.S.A.

T: (412) 325-0202

F: (412) 325-0208

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

LEGAL AND  

COMPLIANCE

Stella-Jones Corporation

15700 College Blvd.,  

Suite 300

Lenexa, kS 

66219 U.S.A.

T: (913) 948-9478

F: (913) 538-2226

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

WASHINGTON

Plant and Sales Office

Stella-Jones Corporation

6520 - 188th NE.

Arlington, WA 

98223 U.S.A.

T: (360) 435-2146

F: (360) 435-3035

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

IDAHO

Pole Peeling yard

Stella-Jones Corporation

1076 Main

P.O. Box 500

Juliaetta, ID 

83535 U.S.A.

T: (208) 276-7009

F: (208) 276-7017

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

UTAH

Rail Services Facility

Stella-Jones Corporation

2500 South 9180

West Magna, UT 

84044 U.S.A.

T: (801) 569-7984

F: (801) 569-6646

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

MINNESOTA

Recycling Facility

Stella-Jones Corporation

5020 Lesure Street

Duluth, MN 

55807 U.S.A.

T: (218) 624-9356

F: (218) 624-4387

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

WISCONSIN

Plant 

Stella-Jones Corporation

W1038 County Road U.

Suite 101

Bangor, WI 

54614 U.S.A.

T: (608) 486-2700

F: (608) 486-4538

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

ARkANSAS

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

4260 South Arkansas Ave.

Russellville, AR 

72802 U.S.A.

T: (479) 968-5085

F: (479) 968-4036

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

LOUISIANA

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

3600 koppers Road

Alexandria, LA 

71302 U.S.A.

T: (318) 442-5733

F: (318) 473-4378

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

TENNESSEE

coal tar Distillation 

Facility

Stella-Jones Corporation

1471 Channel Avenue

Memphis, TN 

38109 U.S.A.

T: (901) 942-3326

F: (901) 942-3128

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

kENTUCky

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

3855 Highway 51 North

Fulton, ky 

42041 U.S.A.

T: (270) 472-5557

F: (270) 472-5559

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

INDIANA

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

3818 S. County Road 50 E.

Winslow, IN 

47598 U.S.A.

T: (812) 789-5331

F: (812) 789-5335

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

ALABAMA

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

1641 State Highway 160

Warrior, AL 

35180 U.S.A.

T: (205) 590-0102

F: (205) 590-0105

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

Recycling Facility

Stella-Jones Corporation

1658 Ohio Ferro Road

Mt. Meigs, AL 

36057 U.S.A.

T: (334) 271-1500

F: (334) 271-1515

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

WEST vIRGINIA

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

3424 Parkersburg Road

Reedy, Wv 

25270 U.S.A.

T: (304) 927-1250

F: (304) 927-0259

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

vIRGINIA

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

9223 Maury River Road

Goshen, vA 

24439 U.S.A.

T: (540) 997-9251

F: (540) 997-0047

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

PENNSyLvANIA

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

5865 Route 235

McAlisterville, PA 

17049 U.S.A.

T: (717) 463-2131

F: (717) 463-3998

sjcorp@stella-jones.com

Plant

Stella-Jones Corporation

392 Larkeytown Road

Dubois, PA 

15801 U.S.A.

T: (814) 371-7331

F: (814) 375-0946

sjcorp@stella-jones.com



in 2011, while remaining largely unaff ected by uncertain-
ty in the overall economy, Stella-Jones generated record 
sales and net income. The Company continued to grow 
its markets, expand through acquisition, and hone the 
effi  ciency of its continental network. Stella-Jones thereby 
further enhanced its position as one of north america’s 
principal suppliers of pressure treated wood products 
and improved its capacity in its core railway tie and utility 
pole markets. 

Stella-Jones has adhered to its core competence for 
almost two decades and has developed a culture of 
adopting best practices. These have made the Company 
a leader in the wood treating industry. Leveraging its 
knowledge has made possible the continuous improve-
ments in the Company’s competitiveness.
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Leveraging Our 
knowledge

AnnuAl meetInG oF sHAreHolDers
may 3, 2012
10:00 a.m.
Fairmont the Queen elizabeth
salon marquette
900 rené lévesque Blvd. West
montréal, Québec

stocK InFormAtIon
shares listed: toronto stock exchange
ticker symbol: sJ
Initial public off ering: 1994
52-week high/low (Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2011): $42.74/$32.15
share price at march 15, 2012: $41.90
common shares outstanding as at December 31, 2011: 15.96 million

DIVIDenD polIcY
the Board of Directors considers a dividend on a quarterly basis, subject 
to the company’s fi nancial covenants and conditional upon its fi nancial 
performance and cash requirements.

on march 15, 2012, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly 
dividend of $0.15 per common share.

trAnsFer AGent AnD reGIstrAr
computershare Investor services Inc.

AuDItors
pricewaterhousecoopers llp

leGAl counsel
Fasken martineau Dumoulin llp
Foley & lardner llp

A maisonBrison communications production
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